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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section

21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future
events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the
negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q include, but are not limited to, statements about:

 
· the development of our drug candidates, including when we expect to undertake, initiate and complete clinical trials of our product candidates;
· expectation of or dates for commencement of clinical trials, investigational new drug filings, similar plans or projections;
· the regulatory approval of our drug candidates;
· our use of clinical research centers, third party manufacturers and other contractors;
· our ability to find collaborative partners for research, development and commercialization of potential products;
· our ability to manufacture products for clinical and commercial use;
· our ability to protect our patents and other intellectual property;
· our ability to market any of our products;
· our projected operating losses;
· our ability to secure adequate protection for our intellectual property;
· our ability to compete against other companies and research institutions;
· the effect of potential strategic transactions on our business;
· acceptance of our products by doctors, patients or payors and the availability of reimbursement for our product candidates;
· our ability to attract and retain key personnel; and
· the volatility of our stock price.
 

We caution you that the forward-looking statements highlighted above do not encompass all of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q.

 
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors. Moreover, we operate in a
very competitive and challenging environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could
have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We cannot assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected
in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
statements. Additionally, final data may differ significantly from preliminary data reported in this document.

 
The forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no

obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the
potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make, if any.

 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also contains statistical data, estimates and forecasts that are based on independent industry publications or other publicly

available information, as well as other information based on our internal sources. Although we believe that the third-party sources referred to in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q are reliable, we have not independently verified the information provided by these third parties. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any third-party
information presented in this report, their estimates, in particular, as they relate to projections, involve numerous assumptions, are subject to risks and uncertainties, and are
subject to change based on various factors.
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 PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
Item 1.  Financial Statements.

 
 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

  
June 30, 2015 

(unaudited)   December 31, 2014 
ASSETS  

         
CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,038,260  $ 8,034,765 
Marketable securities   15,494,365   - 
Restricted cash   599,582   2,977,024 
Grant receivable   380,008   360,233 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   130,724   235,523 

         
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   21,642,939   11,607,545 

         
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net   263,059   229,455 
         
OTHER ASSETS         

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $74,305 and $49,930, respectively   215,377   239,752 
In-process research and development, net of accumulated amortization of $0   1,500,000   1,500,000 
Other assets   69,455   55,320 

         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 23,690,830  $ 13,632,072 

         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)  

         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 2,678,848  $ 1,699,254 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party   538,721   433,712 
Deferred revenue, current   3,645,834   4,166,667 

         
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   6,863,403   6,299,633 

         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES         

Deferred revenue, net of current portion   2,734,374   4,166,666 
Loan payable   9,155,857   9,155,857 
Accrued interest   382,001   258,639 

         
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES   12,272,232   13,581,162 

         
TOTAL LIABILITIES   19,135,635   19,880,795 

         
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)         

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding   -   - 
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 16,223,281 and 11,707,051 shares issued and outstanding,

respectively   16,223   11,707 
Additional paid-in capital   33,446,837   16,054,697 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   6,535   - 
Accumulated deficit   (28,914,400)   (22,315,127)

         
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)   4,555,195   (6,248,723)

         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)  $ 23,690,830  $ 13,632,072 

 
See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(UNAUDITED)

 
  Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  
             
INCOME                 

Collaboration income  $ 911,458  $ 1,041,667  $ 1,953,125  $ 2,083,334 
Grant income   380,008   -   1,126,243   - 

                 
TOTAL INCOME   1,291,466   1,041,667   3,079,368   2,083,334 

                 
OPERATING EXPENSES                 

Research and development   3,426,803   1,856,360   7,233,891   3,236,877 
General and administrative   926,279   665,728   2,321,819   1,512,895 

                 
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   4,353,082   2,522,088   9,555,710   4,749,772 

                 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS   (3,061,616)   (1,480,421)   (6,476,342)   (2,666,438)

                 
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)                 

Investment income   156   1,196   431   1,919 
Interest expense   (61,681)   (54,704)   (123,362)   (80,031)

                 
TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)   (61,525)   (53,508)   (122,931)   (78,112)

                 
NET LOSS   (3,123,141)   (1,533,929)   (6,599,273)   (2,744,550)

                 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)                 

Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities   10,475   (470)   6,535   106 
                 

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  $ (3,112,666)  $ (1,534,399)  $ (6,592,738)  $ (2,744,444)
                 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.19)  $ (0.13)  $ (0.42)  $ (0.23)
                 
Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted   16,222,754   11,692,318   15,549,988   11,690,888 

 
See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(UNAUDITED)

 
  COMMON STOCK              

  SHARES   AMOUNT   
ADDITIONAL PAID-

IN CAPITAL   

OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME   
ACCUMULATED

DEFICIT   

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

                   
Balance at December 31, 2014   11,707,051  $ 11,707  $ 16,054,697  $ -  $ (22,315,127)  $ (6,248,723)
                         
Issuance of common stock, net of fees   4,497,867   4,498   16,441,720   -   -   16,446,218 
                         
Stock-based compensation   1,666   2   915,049   -   -   915,051 
                         
Unrealized gain on marketable securities   -   -   -   6,535   -   6,535 
                         
Stock options and warrants exercised   16,697   16   35,371   -   -   35,387 
                         
Net loss   -   -   -   -   (6,599,273)   (6,599,273)
                         
Balance at June 30, 2015   16,223,281  $ 16,223  $ 33,446,837  $ 6,535  $ (28,914,400)  $ 4,555,195 
 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

 
  Six months ended June 30,  
  2015   2014  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         

Net loss  $ (6,599,273)  $ (2,744,550)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   51,004   16,216 
Stock-based compensation   915,051   192,206 
Change in assets - (increase) decrease:         

Restricted cash   2,377,442   (2,976,441)
Grants receivable   (19,775)   - 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   104,799   99,659 
Other assets   (14,135)   (29,592)

Change in liabilities - increase (decrease):         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   979,594   196,574 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party   105,009   76,098 
Accrued interest   123,362   80,031 
Deferred revenue   (1,953,125)   10,416,666 

         
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES   (3,930,047)   5,326,867 

         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         

Purchase of marketable securities   (15,487,830)   - 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities   -   809 
Purchases of property and equipment   (50,760)   (116,456)
Payments for leasehold improvements   (9,473)   (23,744)
Other investing activities, net   -   (23,910)

         
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (15,548,063)   (163,301)

         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         

Net proceeds from sale of common stock   16,446,218   - 
Proceeds from loan payable, net   -   4,686,614 
Proceeds from stock awards, warrants, and options   35,387   2,469 

         
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   16,481,605   4,689,083 

         
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (2,996,505)   9,852,649 

         
Cash and cash equivalents balance at beginning of period   8,034,765   1,729,537 
         
Cash and cash equivalents balance at end of period  $ 5,038,260  $ 11,582,186 
         
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:         

Interest paid in cash  $ -  $ - 
Income taxes paid in cash  $ -  $ - 

 
See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 
Description of Business

 
The mission of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (referred to herein as “Capricor Therapeutics” or the “Company”), is to improve the treatment of

diseases by commercializing innovative therapies, with a primary focus on cardiovascular diseases. Capricor, Inc., a privately-held company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Capricor Therapeutics (referred to herein as “Capricor”), was founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on the innovative work of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D.,
Ph.D. After completion of a merger between Capricor and a subsidiary of Nile Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Nile”), on November 20, 2013, Capricor became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile and Nile formally changed its name to Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. Capricor Therapeutics, together with its subsidiary, Capricor, currently has
six drug candidates in various stages of development.

 
Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for Capricor Therapeutics and its wholly-owned subsidiary have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and, therefore, do not include
all disclosures necessary for a complete presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with U.S. GAAP. In the Company’s opinion, all
adjustments, consisting of normal and recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The accompanying financial information should
be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 16, 2015, from which the December 31, 2014 consolidated balance sheet has been derived. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results
that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2015.
 
Basis of Consolidation

 
Our condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary. All intercompany transactions have been

eliminated in consolidation.
 

Liquidity
 
The Company has historically financed its research and development activities as well as operational expenses from equity financings, government grants, a payment

from Janssen Biotech, Inc. (“Janssen”) pursuant to a Collaboration Agreement with Janssen and a loan award from the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine
(“CIRM”).

 
Cash resources consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of June 30, 2015 were approximately $20.5 million, compared to $8.0 million as of

December 31, 2014. In January 2015, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with select investors, pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of
2,839,045 shares of its common stock at a price per share of $3.523 for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $10,000,000. In February 2015, the Company entered into
a Share Purchase Agreement with select investors, pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of 1,658,822 shares of its common stock at a price per share of $4.25 for
an aggregate purchase price of approximately $7,050,000. The Company’s principal uses of cash are for research and development expenses, general and administrative
expenses, capital expenditures and other working capital requirements.

 
The Company’s future expenditures and capital requirements may be substantial and will depend on many factors, including but not limited to the following:

 
· the timing and costs associated with commercialization of its product candidates;
· the timing and costs associated with its clinical trials and preclinical studies;
· the number and scope of its research programs; and
· the costs involved in prosecuting and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 

The Company’s cash requirements are expected to continue to increase as it advances its research, development and commercialization programs and the Company
expects to seek additional financing primarily from, but not limited to, the sale and issuance of equity or debt securities or the licensing or sale of its technology. The Company
cannot provide assurances that financing will be available when and as needed or that, if available, financing will be available on favorable or acceptable terms or at all. If the
Company is unable to obtain additional financing when and if required, it would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and results of operations. To the
extent the Company issues additional equity securities, its existing stockholders could experience substantial dilution.
 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management uses its historical records and knowledge of its business in making these estimates. Accordingly, actual
results may differ from these estimates.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

 
Restricted Cash

 
As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, restricted cash represented funds received under Capricor’s Loan Agreement with CIRM (see Note 2 – “Loan Payable”),

which are to be allocated to the ALLSTAR clinical trial research costs as incurred. Generally, a reduction of restricted cash occurs when the Company deems certain costs are
attributable to the ALLSTAR clinical trial.
 
Marketable Securities

 
The Company determines the appropriate classification of its marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date.

All of the Company’s marketable securities are considered as available-for-sale and carried at estimated fair values. Realized gains and losses on the sale of debt and equity
securities are determined using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from net income and reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
 
Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the related estimated useful life of the asset, which such estimated useful lives range from five to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
Intangible Assets

  
Amounts attributable to intellectual property consist primarily of the costs associated with the acquisition of certain technologies, patents, pending patents and related

intangible assets with respect to research and development activities. Intellectual property assets are stated at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from five to fifteen years. Also, the Company recorded capitalized loan fees as a component of intangible assets on the condensed
consolidated balance sheet (see Note 2 – “Loan Payable”). Total amortization expense was approximately $24,375 and $5,832 for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively. A summary of future amortization expense as of June 30, 2015 is as follows:
 

Years ended  Amortization Expense  
2015  $ 24,375 
2016   48,749 
2017   48,749 
2018   43,732 
2019   43,276 

Thereafter   6,496 
 
As a result of the merger in 2013 between Capricor and Nile, the Company recorded $1.5 million as in-process research and development in accordance with Financial

Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. The in-process research and development asset is subject to
impairment testing until completion or abandonment of research and development efforts associated with the project. Upon successful completion of the project, the Company
will make a determination as to the then remaining useful life of the intangible asset and begin amortization.

 
The Company reviews goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for possible impairment. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are

reviewed for possible impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit
below its carrying value. As of June 30, 2015, the Company deemed the assets to not be impaired and did not amortize the in-process research and development.
 
Government Research Grants

 
Generally, government research grants that provide funding for research and development activities are recognized as income when the related expenses are incurred,

as applicable. In August 2013, Capricor was approved for a Phase IIB Bridge grant through the NIH Small Business Innovation Research, or SBIR, program for continued
development of its CAP-1002 product candidate. Under the terms of the grant, approximately $2.9 million will be disbursed to Capricor over a period of three years, subject to
annual and quarterly reporting requirements. As of June 30, 2015, approximately $1.7 million had been incurred under the terms of the award.
 
Income from Collaborative Arrangements

 
Revenue from nonrefundable, up-front license or technology access payments under license and collaborative arrangements that are not dependent on any future

performance by the Company is recognized when such amounts are earned. If the Company has continuing obligations to perform under the arrangement, such fees are
recognized over the estimated period of the continuing performance obligation.

 

 10  



 

 
CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 
The Company accounts for multiple element arrangements, such as license and development agreements in which a customer may purchase several deliverables, in

accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 605-25, Multiple Element Arrangements. For new or materially amended multiple element arrangements, the Company identifies the
deliverables at the inception of the arrangement and each deliverable within a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit of accounting if both
of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a standalone basis and (2) for an arrangement that includes a general right of
return relative to the delivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in the Company’s control. The Company
allocates revenue to each non-contingent element based on the relative selling price of each element. When applying the relative selling price method, the Company determines
the selling price for each deliverable using vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price, if it exists.
If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for a deliverable, then the Company uses the best estimated selling price for that deliverable. Revenue allocated to each element
is then recognized based on when the basic four revenue recognition criteria are met for each element.

 
The Company determined the deliverables under its Collaboration Agreement with Janssen (see Note 7 – “License Agreements”) did not meet the criteria to be

considered separate accounting units for the purposes of revenue recognition. As a result, the Company recognized revenue from non-refundable, upfront fees ratably over the
term of its performance under the agreement with Janssen. The upfront payments received, pending recognition as revenue, are recorded as deferred revenue and are classified
as a short-term or long-term liability on the condensed consolidated balance sheets of the Company and amortized over the estimated period of performance. The Company
periodically reviews the estimated performance period of its contract based on the estimated progress of its project.
 
Loan Payable
 

The Company accounts for the funds advanced under its Loan Agreement with CIRM (see Note 2 – “Loan Payable”) as a loan payable as the eventual repayment of
the loan proceeds or forgiveness of the loan is contingent upon certain future milestones being met and other conditions. As the likelihood of whether or not the Company will
ever achieve these milestones or satisfy these conditions cannot be reasonably predicted at this time, the Company records these amounts as a loan payable.

 
Research and Development
 

Costs relating to the design and development of new products are expensed as research and development as incurred in accordance with FASB ASC 730-10, Research
and Development. Research and development costs amounted to approximately $3.4 million and $1.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
and $7.2 million and $3.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

Comprehensive income (loss) generally represents all changes in stockholders’ equity during the period except those resulting from investments by, or distributions to,
stockholders. The Company’s comprehensive loss was approximately $3.1 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $6.6
million and $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) is related to a net unrealized gain
(loss) on marketable securities. For the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company’s other comprehensive gain (loss) was $10,475 and $(470), respectively. For
the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company’s other comprehensive gain was $6,535 and $106, respectively.

 
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share
 

Basic loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed using the
weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares, which primarily consist of
stock options issued to employees and directors as well as warrants issued to third parties, have been excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation because their effect is
anti-dilutive.

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, warrants and options to purchase 6,143,299 and 5,193,021 shares of common stock, respectively, have been

excluded from the computation of potentially dilutive securities. For the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, warrants and options to purchase 6,143,299 and 5,193,021
shares of common stock, respectively, have been excluded from the computation of potentially dilutive securities.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
Fair Value Measurements
 

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the balance sheet are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair
value. The categories are as follows:

 
Level Input:  Input Definition:
   
Level I  Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.
Level II

 
Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level I, that are observable for the asset or liability through corroboration with market data at
the measurement date.

Level III
 

Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date.

 
The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at June 30, 2015 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
 

  June 30, 2015  
  Level I   Level II   Level III   Total  
Marketable securities  $ 15,494,365  $ -  $ -  $ 15,494,365 

 
Carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet of cash and cash equivalents, grants receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to

their relatively short maturity. The carrying amounts of the Company’s marketable securities are based on market quotations from national exchanges at the balance sheet date.
Interest and dividend income are recognized separately on the income statement based on classifications provided by the brokerage firm holding the investments. The fair value
of borrowings is not considered to be significantly different than its carrying amount because the stated rates for such debt reflect current market rates and conditions.

 
Warrant Liability
 

The Company accounts for some of its warrants issued in accordance with the guidance on Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liabilities and Equity, which provides that the Company must classify the warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjust the instrument to fair value at each
reporting period. The fair value of warrants is estimated by management using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each
balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component of other income or expense. Management has determined the value of the warrant
liability to be insignificant at June 30, 2015, and no such liability has been reflected on the balance sheet.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 will
eliminate transaction- and industry-specific revenue recognition guidance under current generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and replace it with a principle-based approach for determining revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 will require that companies recognize revenue based on the value of
transferred goods or services as they occur in the contract. ASU 2014-09 also will require additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract.
ASU 2014-09 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is not permitted. Entities can transition to the standard either
retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect of the
standard on its ongoing financial reporting.

 
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. This standard modifies existing

consolidation guidance for reporting organizations that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. ASU 2015-02 is effective for fiscal years
and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2015, and requires either a retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adoption. Early adoption
is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its condensed consolidated financial statements, as well as the available transition
methods.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, including its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
the Securities and Exchange Commission, did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future condensed consolidated
financial statement presentation or disclosures. For a more detailed listing of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see Note 1 – “Organization and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2015.

 
2. LOAN PAYABLE

 
On February 5, 2013, Capricor entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM (the “CIRM Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which CIRM agreed to disburse $19,782,136 to

Capricor over a period of approximately three and one-half years to support Phase II of Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial.
 
Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at the end of the loan period. The loan also provides for the payment of a

risk premium whereby Capricor is required to pay CIRM a premium of up to 500% of the loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term
of five years and is extendable annually up to ten years at Capricor’s option if certain conditions are met. The interest rate for the initial term is set at the one-year LIBOR rate
plus 2% (“base rate”), compounded annually, and becomes due at the end of the fifth year. After the fifth year, if the term of the loan is extended and if certain conditions are
met, the interest rate will increase by 1% over the base rate each sequential year thereafter, with a maximum increase of 5% over the base rate in the tenth year. CIRM has the
right to cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain other conditions are not met. The Company is also required to meet certain progress milestones set forth in
the CIRM Notice of Loan Award with respect to the progress of the ALLSTAR clinical trial and manufacturing of the product. There is no assurance that CIRM will continue
the disbursement of funds. Capricor and CIRM have agreed to adjust future disbursements of loan proceeds to align with actual patient enrollment.

 
Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM deducted $36,667 from the initial disbursement to cover its costs in conducting financial due diligence on

Capricor. According to the original CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM intended to also deduct approximately $16,667 from each disbursement made in the second and third year of
the loan period to cover its costs of continuing due diligence according to the payment disbursement schedule. However, in June 2014, the CIRM Loan Agreement was amended
to adjust the due diligence costs that can be deducted from the disbursements. CIRM refunded approximately $6,667 to Capricor, which amount CIRM had previously withheld,
and CIRM is not permitted to withhold additional funds from the indirect costs portion of Capricor’s future disbursements. So long as Capricor is not in default under the terms
of the CIRM Loan Agreement, the loan may be forgiven during the term of the project period if Capricor abandons the trial due to the occurrence of a no-go milestone. After the
end of the project period, the loan may also be forgiven if Capricor elects to abandon the project under certain circumstances. Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement,
Capricor is required to meet certain financial milestones by demonstrating to CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that it has sufficient funds available to cover all
costs and expenses anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at least the following 12-month period, less the costs budgeted to be covered by
planned loan disbursements. Capricor did not issue stock, warrants or other equity to CIRM in connection with this award.

 
In addition to the foregoing, the timing of the distribution of funds pursuant to the CIRM Loan Agreement shall be contingent upon the availability of funds in the

California Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the California State Treasury, as determined by CIRM in its sole discretion. Disbursements from time to time may be delayed
or suspended in order to coincide with projected expenditures and patient estimated enrollment of Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial.

 
The due diligence costs are recorded as a discount on the loan and amortized to general and administrative expenses over the remaining term of the loan. As of June 30,

2015, $30,000 of loan costs were capitalized with the balance of $14,138 to be amortized over approximately 2.6 years.
 
In February 2013, Capricor received loan proceeds of $857,267, net of loan costs. This disbursement carries interest at the initial rate of approximately 2.8% per

annum.
 
In July 2013, Capricor received the second disbursement under the loan award of $3,067,799. This disbursement carries interest at the initial rate of approximately

2.5% per annum.
 
In April 2014, Capricor received the third disbursement under the loan award of $4,679,947. This disbursement carries interest at the initial rate of approximately

2.6% per annum.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
2. LOAN PAYABLE (continued)
 

In July 2014, Capricor received the fourth disbursement under the loan award of $514,177, which includes previously deducted due diligence costs that were refunded.
This disbursement carries interest at the initial rate of approximately 2.6% per annum. A portion of the principal received under the third and fourth disbursements are currently
being recorded as restricted cash, due to the fact that Capricor must expend approved project costs in order to use these funds. For the three months ended June 30, 2015 and
2014, interest expense under the CIRM loan was $61,681 and $54,704, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, interest expense under the CIRM loan
was $123,362 and $80,031, respectively. The principal balance outstanding under the CIRM loan was $9,155,857 at each of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.
 
3. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Reverse Stock Split
 

On November 20, 2013, the Company effected a reverse split of its common stock, par value $0.001 per share, at a ratio of 1-for-50. Unless otherwise indicated, all
share amounts, per share data, share prices, exercise prices and conversion rates set forth in these condensed consolidated financial statements and related condensed
consolidated notes, where applicable, have been adjusted retroactively to reflect this reverse stock split.

 
Private Placements
 

On January 9, 2015, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with select investors pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to the
investors, in a private placement (“PIPE 1”), an aggregate of 2,839,045 shares of its common stock at a price per share of $3.523 for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $10,000,000.

 
On February 3, 2015, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with certain accredited investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell

to the investors, in a private placement (“PIPE 2”), an aggregate of 1,658,822 shares of its common stock at a price per share of $4.25 for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $7,050,000.

 
Fees paid in conjunction with PIPE 1 and PIPE 2 amounted to $605,736 in the aggregate and were recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.
 

Outstanding Shares
 

At June 30, 2015, the Company had 16,223,281 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
 

4. STOCK  AWARDS, WARRANTS AND OPTIONS
 
Warrants
 

The following table summarizes all warrant activity for the period ended June 30, 2015:
 

  Warrants   
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price  
Outstanding at January 1, 2015   303,881  $ 10.02 
Granted   -   - 
Exercised   (15,401)   2.27 
Expired   (52,650)   47.00 
Outstanding at June 30, 2015   235,830  $ 2.27 

 

 14  



 

 
CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
4. STOCK  AWARDS, WARRANTS AND OPTIONS (continued)
 

The following table summarizes all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock as of June 30, 2015:
 

At June 30, 2015

Grant Date  
Warrants 

Outstanding   
Range of 

Exercise Prices   
Expiration 

Date
4/4/2012  187  $ 2.27  4/4/2017

11/20/2013  235,643  $ 2.27  11/20/2018
   235,830       

 
Restricted Stock
 

In August 2014, the Company granted 10,000 shares of restricted stock to one of its consultants in consideration of services to be rendered. This restricted stock grant
vested monthly over a period of one year. In February 2015, the Company terminated the agreement with the consultant effective March 2015, therefore, no additional shares
will be issued pursuant to the restricted stock grant. For the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company issued 1,666 shares of that restricted common stock grant, which
were valued at approximately $8,588 in the aggregate. The fair value of the restricted stock was determined using the Company’s closing stock price on the vesting date.

 
Stock Options
 

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has approved four stock option plans: (i) the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan, (the “2005 Plan”), (ii)
the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan (which has superseded the 2006 Stock Option Plan) (the “2012 Plan”), and (iv) the 2012 Non-
Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the “2012 Non-Employee Director Plan”).

 
On August 10, 2005, the Company adopted the 2005 Plan. On July 26, 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2005 Plan increasing the

total number of shares authorized for issuance thereunder to 190,000. Under the 2005 Plan, incentives may be granted to officers, employees, directors, consultants and
advisors. Incentives under the 2005 Plan may be granted in any one or a combination of the following forms: (i) incentive stock options and non-statutory stock options, (ii)
stock appreciation rights, (iii) stock awards, (iv) restricted stock, and (v) performance shares.

 
At the time the merger between Capricor and Nile became effective, 4,149,710 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2012 Plan for the issuance of stock

options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance unit/share awards to employees, consultants and other service providers. Included in the 2012 Plan
are the shares of common stock that were originally reserved under the 2006 Stock Option Plan. Under the 2012 Plan, each stock option granted will be designated in the award
agreement as either an incentive stock option or a nonstatutory stock option. Notwithstanding such designation, however, to the extent that the aggregate fair market value of the
shares with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by the participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any parent
or subsidiary) exceeds $100,000, such options will be treated as nonstatutory stock options.

 
At the time the merger between Capricor and Nile became effective, 2,697,311 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Plan for

the issuance of stock options to members of the Board whom are not employees of the Company.
 
Each of the Company’s stock option plans are administered by the Board, or a committee appointed by the Board, which determines the recipients and types of awards

to be granted, as well as the number of shares subject to the awards, the exercise price and the vesting schedule. Currently, stock options are granted with an exercise price equal
to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, and generally vest over a period of one to four years. The term of stock options granted under each of
the plans cannot exceed ten years.

 
The estimated weighted average fair values of the options granted during the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $3.53 and $4.05 per

share, respectively. The estimated weighted average fair values of the options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $4.15 and $4.92
per share, respectively.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
4. STOCK  AWARDS, WARRANTS AND OPTIONS (continued)
 

The Company estimates the fair value of each option award using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company used the following assumptions to estimate
the fair value of stock options issued during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:

 
  June 30, 2015   June 30, 2014  

Expected volatility    81-82 %    115-117 %
Expected term    5-7 years     7 years  
Dividend yield    0 %    0 %

Risk-free interest rates    0.3-2.0 %    2.2 %
 

Employee stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was as follows:
 
  Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  
             
General and administrative  $ 259,930  $ 81,546  $ 779,866  $ 160,806 
Research and development   83,000   26,116   126,597   31,400 
Total  $ 342,930  $ 107,662  $ 906,463  $ 192,206 

 
As of June 30, 2015, the total unrecognized fair value compensation cost related to non-vested stock options was approximately $4.6 million, which is expected to be

recognized over approximately 3.4 years.
 
Common stock, stock options or other equity instruments issued to non-employees (including consultants) as consideration for goods or services received by the

Company are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued (unless the fair value of the consideration received can be more reliably measured). The fair
value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is periodically re-measured as the underlying options vest. The fair value of any options
issued to non-employees is recorded as an expense over the applicable vesting periods.

 
The following table summarizes stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2015:

 

  
Number of 

Options   
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price  
Outstanding at January 1, 2015   5,004,700  $ 0.75 
Granted   933,190   5.70 
Exercised   (1,296)   0.30 
Expired/Cancelled   (29,125)   3.85 
Outstanding at June 30, 2015   5,907,469  $ 1.52 
Exercisable at June 30, 2015   4,149,750  $ 0.69 

 
5. CONCENTRATIONS
 
Cash Concentration
 

The Company has historically maintained checking accounts at two financial institutions. These accounts are each insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation for up to $250,000. Historically, the Company has not experienced any significant losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit
risk on cash and cash equivalents. As of June 30, 2015, the Company maintained approximately $20.6 million of uninsured deposits.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

 
Leases
 

Capricor leases space for its corporate offices pursuant to a lease that is effective for a two year period beginning July 1, 2013 with an option to extend the lease for an
additional twelve months. The monthly lease payment was $16,620 per month for the first twelve months of the term and increased to $17,285 per month for the second twelve
months of the term. On March 3, 2015, Capricor executed a Second Amendment to Lease  with The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC, pursuant to which (i) additional space
was added to the Company’s corporate office lease and (ii) the Company exercised its option to extend the lease term through June 30, 2016. Under the terms of the Second
Amendment, commencing February 2, 2015, the base rent was $17,957 for one month, and, commencing March 2, 2015, the base rent increased to $21,420 per month for four
months. Commencing July 1, 2015, the base rent increased to $22,111 per month for the remainder of the lease term.

 
On May 14, 2014, Capricor entered into a facilities lease with Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (“CSMC”), a shareholder of the Company, for two research labs (the

“Facilities Lease”). The Facilities Lease is for a term of three years commencing June 1, 2014 and replaces the month-to-month lease that was previously in effect between
CSMC and Capricor. The monthly lease payment was approximately $15,461 per month for the first six months of the term and increased to approximately $19,350 per month
for the remainder of the term. The amount of rent expense is subject to annual adjustments according to increases in the Consumer Price Index.

 
Unless renewed, each of the leases described above will not be in effect for fiscal year 2018. A summary of future minimum rental payments required under operating

leases as of June 30, 2015 is as follows:
 

Years ended  Operating Leases  
2015  $ 248,766 
2016   364,866 
2017   96,750 

Total minimum lease payments  $ 710,382 
 

Expense incurred under operating leases to unrelated parties was approximately $65,088 and $49,860 for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
and approximately $125,765 and $99,720 for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Expense incurred under operating leases to related parties was
approximately $56,106 and $24,569 for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and approximately $112,211 and $38,231 for the six months ended June
30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 
Legal Contingencies
 

Periodically, the Company may become involved in certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. There were no material legal actions or
claims reported at June 30, 2015.

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS
 
Capricor’s Technology - CAP-1002, CAP-1001, CSps and Exosomes
 

Capricor has entered into exclusive license agreements for intellectual property rights related to cardiac derived cells with Università Degli Studi Di Roma at la
Sapienza (the “University of Rome”), The Johns Hopkins University (“JHU”) and CSMC. In addition, Capricor has filed patent applications related to enhancements or
validation of the technology developed by its own scientists.

 
University of Rome License Agreement
 
Capricor and the University of Rome entered into a License Agreement, dated June 21, 2006 (the “Rome License Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an

exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by the University of Rome to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products under the
licensed patent rights in all fields. With respect to any new or future patent applications assigned to the University of Rome utilizing cardiac stem cells in cardiac care, Capricor
has a first right of negotiation for a certain period of time to obtain a license thereto.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)
 

Pursuant to the Rome License Agreement, Capricor paid the University of Rome a license issue fee, is currently paying minimum annual royalties in the amount of
20,000 Euros per year, and is obligated to pay a lower-end of a mid-range double-digit percentage on all royalties received as a result of sublicenses granted, which are net of
any royalties paid to third parties under a license agreement from such third party to Capricor. The minimum annual royalties are creditable against future royalty payments.

 
The Rome License Agreement will, unless extended or sooner terminated, remain in effect until the later of the last claim of any patent or until any patent application

comprising licensed patent rights has expired or been abandoned. Under the terms of the Rome License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement should the other
party become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy. Either party will have up to 90 days to cure its material breach.

 
The Johns Hopkins University License Agreement
 
Capricor and JHU entered into an Exclusive License Agreement, effective June 22, 2006 (the “JHU License Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an exclusive,

world-wide, royalty-bearing license by JHU to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products and licensed services under the licensed
patent rights in all fields and a nonexclusive right to the know-how. In May 2009, the JHU License Agreement was amended to add additional patent rights to the JHU License
Agreement in consideration of a payment to JHU and reimbursement of patent costs. Capricor and JHU executed a Second Amendment to the JHU License Agreement,
effective as of December 20, 2013, pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other
obligations of the parties were clarified.

 
Pursuant to the JHU License Agreement, JHU was paid an initial license fee and, thereafter, Capricor is required to pay minimum annual royalties on the anniversary

dates of the JHU License Agreement. The minimum annual royalties range from $5,000 on the first and second anniversary dates to $20,000 on the tenth anniversary date and
thereafter. The minimum annual royalties are creditable against a low single-digit running royalty on net sales of products and net service revenues, which Capricor is also
required to pay under the JHU License Agreement, which running royalty may be subject to further reduction in the event that Capricor is required to pay royalties on any
patent rights to third parties in order to make or sell a licensed product. In addition, Capricor is required to pay a low double-digit percentage of the consideration received by it
from sublicenses granted, and is required to pay JHU certain defined development milestone payments upon the successful completion of certain phases of its clinical studies
and upon receiving approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”). The development milestones range from $100,000 upon successful completion of a full
Phase I clinical study to $1,000,000 upon full FDA market approval and are fully creditable against payments owed by Capricor to JHU on account of sublicense consideration
attributable to milestone payments received from a sublicensee. The maximum aggregate amount of milestone payments payable under the JHU License Agreement, as
amended, is $1,850,000. As of December 31, 2014, $100,000 was recorded within accounts payable and accrued expenses as a development milestone due to the fact that Phase
I of the ALLSTAR study enrollment had been completed. In May 2015, Capricor paid the development milestone related to Phase I that was owed to JHU pursuant to the terms
of the JHU License Agreement.

 
The JHU License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect in each applicable country until the date of expiration of the last to expire patent within

the patent rights, or, if no patents are issued, then for twenty years from the effective date. Under the terms of the JHU License Agreement, either party may terminate the
agreement should the other party become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy, or fail to cure a material breach within 30 days after notice. In addition, Capricor may
terminate for any reason upon 60 days’ written notice.

 
Cedars-Sinai Medical Center License Agreements
 

License Agreement for CDCs
 

On January 4, 2010, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “CSMC License Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights. In
2013, the CSMC License Agreement was amended twice resulting in, among other things, a reduction in the percentage of sublicense fees which would have been payable to
CSMC. Effective December 30, 2013, Capricor entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “Amended CSMC License Agreement”),
pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were
clarified.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)
 

The Amended CSMC License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by CSMC to Capricor (with the right to
sublicense) to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and develop and commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In addition,
Capricor has the exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or under the direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán
on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of an exclusive license, Capricor will have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to
royalty obligations.

 
Pursuant to the CSMC License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was obligated to reimburse CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in

connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally, Capricor is required to meet certain spending and development milestones. The annual spending
requirements range from $350,000 to $800,000 each year between 2010 and 2017 (with the exception of 2014, for which there was no annual spending requirement). Pursuant
to the Amended CSMC License Agreement, Capricor remains obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a low double-digit
percentage of the consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned royalties are subject to reduction in the event Capricor becomes
obligated to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection with the royalty-bearing product. In 2010, Capricor discontinued its research under some of the
patents.

 
The Amended CSMC License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country basis until the last to expire of the patents covering

the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the Amended CSMC License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i)
if Capricor ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of Capricor or if Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit
of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party jeopardizes the licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a governmental
body; (iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake commercially reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future
patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not been cured within 90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the agreement if
CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

 
On March 20, 2015, Capricor and CSMC entered into a First Amendment to the Amended CSMC License Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to delete

certain patent applications from the list of Scheduled Patents which Capricor determined not to be material to the portfolio.
 
License Agreement for Exosomes
 
On May 5, 2014, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “Exosomes License Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights

related to exosomes technology. The Exosomes License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by CSMC to Capricor (with the
right to sublicense) in order to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and to develop and commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-
how. In addition, Capricor has the exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or under the direction of Dr.
Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of an exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future
rights, subject to royalty obligations.

 
Pursuant to the Exosomes License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor reimbursed CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the

prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally, Capricor is required to meet certain non-monetary development milestones and is obligated to pay low single-digit royalties
on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a single-digit percentage of the consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned
royalties are subject to reduction in the event Capricor becomes obligated to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection with the royalty bearing product.

 
The Exosomes License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country basis until the last to expire of the patents covering the

patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the Exosomes License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if Capricor
ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of Capricor or if Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its
creditors; (iii) if performance by either party jeopardizes the licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a governmental body;
(iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake commercially reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent
rights; (vi) if a material breach has not been cured within 90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the agreement if CSMC
fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)

 
On February 27, 2015, Capricor and CSMC entered into a First Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, thereby amending the Exosomes License Agreement

(the “Exosomes License Amendment”). Under the Exosomes License Amendment, (i) the description of patent rights in Schedule A has been replaced by a Revised Schedule A
that includes four additional patent applications; (ii) Capricor was required to pay CSMC an upfront fee of $20,000; (iii) Capricor is required to reimburse CSMC approximately
$34,000 for attorneys’ fees and filing fees that were incurred in connection with the additional patent rights; and (iv) Capricor is required to pay CSMC certain defined product
development milestone payments upon reaching certain phases of its clinical studies and upon receiving approval for a product from the FDA. The product development
milestones range from $15,000 upon the dosing of the first patient in a Phase I clinical trial of a product to $75,000 upon receipt of FDA approval for a product.  The maximum
aggregate amount of milestone payments payable under the Exosomes License Agreement, as amended, is $190,000.  On June 10, 2015, Capricor and CSMC entered into a
Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, thereby amending the Exosomes License Agreement further to add an additional patent application to the Schedule of
Patent Rights.

 
As noted above, Capricor is party to lease agreements with CSMC, which holds more than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics (see Note 6 –

“Commitments and Contingencies”). Additionally, Dr. Eduardo Marbán, who holds more than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics, is the Director of
the Cedars-Sinai Heart Institute and the Co-Founder of Capricor and Scientific Advisory Board Chairman of Capricor.

 
Collaboration Agreement with Janssen Biotech, Inc.
 
On December 27, 2013, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option (the “Janssen Agreement”) with Janssen, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Under the terms of the Janssen Agreement, Capricor and Janssen agreed to collaborate on the development of Capricor’s cell therapy program
for cardiovascular applications, including its lead product candidate, CAP-1002. Capricor and Janssen further agreed to collaborate on the development of cell manufacturing in
preparation for future clinical trials. Under the Janssen Agreement, Capricor was paid $12.5 million, and Capricor will contribute to the development of a chemistry,
manufacturing and controls (“CMC”) package. In addition, Janssen has the exclusive right to enter into an exclusive license agreement pursuant to which Janssen would receive
a worldwide, exclusive license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology. Janssen has the right to
exercise the option at any time until 60 days after the delivery by Capricor of the six-month follow-up results from Phase II of Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial for CAP-
1002. If Janssen exercises its option rights, Capricor would receive an upfront license fee and additional milestone payments, which may total up to $325.0 million. In addition,
a royalty ranging from a low double-digit percentage to a lower-end of a mid-range double-digit percentage would be paid on sales of licensed products.

 
Company Technology – Cenderitide and CU-NP
 

The Company has entered into an exclusive license agreement for intellectual property rights related to natriuretic peptides with the Mayo Foundation for Medical
Education and Research (“Mayo”), a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with Medtronic, Inc. (“Medtronic”), and a Transfer Agreement with Medtronic, all of which also
include certain intellectual property licensing provisions.

 
Mayo License Agreement
 
The Company and Mayo previously entered into a Technology License Agreement with respect to Cenderitide on January 20, 2006, which was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to

the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 21, 2007, and which was amended on June 2, 2008 (as so amended, the “CD-NP Agreement”). On
June 13, 2008, the Company and Mayo entered into a Technology License Agreement with respect to CU-NP (the “CU-NP Agreement”), which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 14, 2008. On November 14, 2013, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated License
Agreement with Mayo (the “Amended Mayo Agreement”). The Amended Mayo Agreement amends and restates in its entirety each of the CD-NP Agreement and the CU-NP
Agreement, and creates a single amended and restated license agreement between the Company and Mayo with respect to CD-NP and CU-NP.

 
The Amended Mayo Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by Mayo to the Company (with the right to sublicense)

under the Mayo patents, patent applications and improvements, and a nonexclusive right under the know-how, for the development and commercialization of CD-NP and CU-
NP in all therapeutic indications. With respect to any future patents and any improvements related to Cenderitide and CU-NP owned by or assigned to Mayo, the Company has
the exclusive right of first negotiation for the exclusive or non-exclusive rights (at the Company’s option) thereto. Such exclusive right of negotiation shall be effective as of
June 1, 2016, or such earlier date when the Company has satisfied certain payment obligations to Mayo.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)

 
Under each of the previous CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement, the Company paid Mayo up-front cash payments and the Company agreed to make certain

performance-based cash payments to Mayo upon successful completion of certain milestones. Additionally, the Company issued certain amounts of common stock of the
Company to Mayo under each agreement. The Amended Mayo Agreement restructured the economic arrangements of the CD-NP Agreement and the CU-NP Agreement by,
among other things, eliminating certain milestone payments and decreasing the royalty percentages payable upon the commercial sale of the products to low single-digit
royalties on sales of CD-NP and CU-NP products. The Company is also obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on any upfront consideration or milestone
payment received in connection with a sublicense. The Company is further obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on any consideration received in connection
with an assignment of rights under the Amended Mayo Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement, the Company agreed to pay to Mayo an annual
license maintenance fee and to issue to Mayo an additional 18,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as additional consideration for the grant of certain rights. Mayo also
agreed to waive or defer the payment of certain fees owed to Mayo. All breaches and defaults by the Company under the terms of the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP
Agreement were waived by Mayo in the Amended Mayo Agreement.

 
The Amended Mayo Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, expire on the later of (a) the expiration of the last to expire valid claim contained in the Mayo patents,

or (b) the 20th anniversary of the Amended Mayo Agreement. Under the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement, Mayo may terminate the agreement earlier (i) for the
Company’s material breach of the agreement that remains uncured for 90 days’ after written notice to the Company, (ii) for the Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy, (iii) if the
Company challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the patent rights in any manner, or (iv) if the Company has not initiated either the next clinical trial of Cenderitide
within two years of the effective date of the Amended Mayo Agreement or a clinical trial of CU-NP within two and one-half years of the effective date. Such condition was
satisfied when the Company initiated its clinical trial of Cenderitide in January 2015. The Company may terminate the Amended Mayo Agreement without cause upon 90 days’
written notice.

 
Medtronic Clinical Trial Funding Agreement
 
In February 2011, the Company entered into a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with Medtronic. Pursuant to the agreement, Medtronic provided funding and

equipment necessary for the Company to conduct a Phase I clinical trial to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of Cenderitide when delivered to heart failure
patients through continuous subcutaneous infusion using Medtronic’s pump technology.

 
The agreement provided that intellectual property conceived in or otherwise resulting from the performance of the Phase I clinical trial will be jointly owned by the

Company and Medtronic (the “Joint Intellectual Property”), and that the Company is to pay royalties to Medtronic based on the net sales of a product covered by the Joint
Intellectual Property.  The agreement further provided that, if the parties fail to enter into a definitive commercial license agreement with respect to Cenderitide, each party will
have a right of first negotiation to license exclusive rights to any Joint Intellectual Property.

 
Pursuant to its terms, the agreement expired in February 2012, following the completion of the Phase I clinical trial and the delivery of data and reports related to such

study. Although the Medtronic agreement expired, there are certain provisions that survive the expiration of the agreement, including the obligation to pay royalties on products
that might be covered by the Joint Intellectual Property. The Company and Medtronic have subsequently entered into a Transfer Agreement, described below. 

 
Medtronic Transfer Agreement
 
On October 8, 2014, the Company entered into a Transfer Agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) with Medtronic to acquire patent rights relating to the formulation

and pump delivery of natriuretic peptides. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, Medtronic has assigned to the Company all of its right, title and interest in all natriuretic peptide
patents and patent applications previously owned by Medtronic or co-owned by Medtronic and the Company (“Natriuretic Peptide Patents”). Under the Transfer Agreement, the
Company received all rights to the Natriuretic Peptide Patents, including the right to grant licenses and to make assignments without approval from Medtronic.

 
The Transfer Agreement became effective on October 8, 2014 and will expire simultaneously at the expiration of the last to expire of the valid claims. Both parties

have the right to terminate the Transfer Agreement upon 30 days written notice to the other party in the event of a default which has not been cured within such 30-day period.
In addition, Medtronic had the right to terminate the Transfer Agreement and to have the rights to the Natriuretic Peptide Patents reassigned to it by the Company if either the
Company, an affiliate, or a non-party licensee failed to commence a clinical trial of a CD-NP product within 18 months from the effective date. Such condition was satisfied
when the Company initiated its clinical trial of Cenderitide in January 2015.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)

 
In the event of a termination of the Transfer Agreement, (i) the Natriuretic Peptide Patents which were not owned or co-owned by the Company prior to the effective

date of the Transfer Agreement shall be assigned back to Medtronic; (ii) the Company’s rights in the Natriuretic Peptide Patents that were co-owned by Capricor pursuant to the
Clinical Trial Funding Agreement will remain with the Company, subject to the surviving terms and provisions thereof; and (iii) the Company shall assign back to Medtronic
those rights that were co-owned by Medtronic pursuant to the Clinical Trial Funding Agreement.

 
Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, Medtronic was paid an upfront payment of $100,000, and the Company is obligated to pay Medtronic a mid-single-digit royalty

on net sales of products, a low double-digit percentage of any consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights, and a mid-double-digit percentage of any
monetary awards or settlements received by the Company as a result of enforcement of the Natriuretic Peptide Patents against a non-party entity, less the costs and attorney’s
fees incurred to enforce the Natriuretic Peptide Patents. In addition, there are additional payments that may become due from the Company upon the achievement of certain
defined milestones, which payments, in the aggregate, total up to $7.0 million.
 
8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 
Lease and Sub-Lease Agreements
 

As noted above, Capricor Therapeutics is party to lease agreements with CSMC, which holds more than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics
(see Note 6 – “Commitments and Contingencies”). Additionally, Dr. Eduardo Marbán, who holds more than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics, is
the Director of the Cedars-Sinai Heart Institute, the Co-Founder of Capricor and Scientific Advisory Board Chairman of Capricor.

 
Beginning May 1, 2012, pursuant to a sublease agreement, Capricor subleased part of its office space to Frank Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman and a

member of its Board of Directors, for $2,500 per month. On April 1, 2013, Capricor entered into a sublease with Reprise Technologies, LLC, a limited liability company which
is wholly owned by Dr. Litvack, for $2,500 per month. The sublease is on a month-to-month basis. For each of the three month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, Capricor
recognized $7,500 in sublease income from the related party. For each of the six month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, Capricor recognized $15,000 in sublease income
from the related party. Sublease income is recorded as a reduction to general and administrative expenses.

 
Consulting Agreements
 

Effective May 1, 2012, Frank Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman, entered into a Consulting Agreement with Capricor whereby Capricor was obligated to
pay Dr. Litvack fees of $4,000 per month for consulting services. Effective January 1, 2013, the payment amount was increased to $10,000 per month payable for consulting
services. The agreement is terminable upon 30 days’ notice. On March 24, 2014, Capricor entered into a written Consulting Agreement with Dr. Litvack memorializing the
$10,000 per month compensation arrangement described above.

 
Payables to Related Party
 

At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company had accounts payable and accrued expenses to related parties totaling $538,721 and $433,712, respectively.
CSMC accounts for approximately $538,721 and $421,328 of the total accounts payable and accrued expenses to related parties as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

 
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and

the condensed consolidated notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion includes forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.
 

As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, references to “Capricor Therapeutics,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or similar terms include Capricor
Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary. References to “Capricor” are with respect to Capricor, Inc., which became our wholly-owned subsidiary upon completion
of the merger between Capricor and Nile Therapeutics, Inc. on November 20, 2013.
 
Overview
 

Our mission is to improve the treatment of diseases by discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies, with a primary focus on cardiovascular
diseases. Our executive offices are located at 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211. Our telephone number is (310) 358-3200 and our Internet address
is www.capricor.com.
 
Consummation of the Merger
 

On November 20, 2013, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of July 7, 2013, as amended by that certain First
Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of September 27, 2013, or, as so amended, the Merger Agreement, by and among Nile Therapeutics,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, or Nile, Bovet Merger Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile, or Merger Sub, and Capricor, Inc., or Capricor,
Merger Sub merged with and into Capricor and Capricor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile. Immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, and in connection
therewith, Nile filed certain amendments to its certificate of incorporation which, among other things (i) effected a 1-for-50 reverse split of its common stock, (ii) changed its
corporate name from “Nile Therapeutics, Inc.” to “Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.,” and (iii) effected a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of common stock from
100,000,000 to 50,000,000, and a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 10,000,000 to 5,000,000.

 
Capricor, our wholly-owned subsidiary, was founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on the innovative work of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D., Ph.D.,

and his collaborators. First located in Baltimore, Maryland, adjacent to The Johns Hopkins University, or JHU, where Dr. Marbán was chief of cardiology, Capricor moved to
Los Angeles, California in 2007 when Dr. Marbán become Director of the Heart Institute at Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, or CSMC. Capricor’s laboratories are located in space
that Capricor leases from CSMC.
 
We currently have six drug candidates in various stages of development:
 

· CAP-1002: Capricor’s lead product candidate consists of allogeneic cardiosphere-derived cells, or CDCs. CAP-1002 is currently being tested in Capricor’s ALLSTAR
Phase II clinical trial, which will determine if the cells can lead to reduction in scar size in patients who have had a heart attack. It is a dual cohort clinical trial that has
two independently recruiting strata:  the first are patients who have recently experienced a myocardial infarction, or MI (30-90 days post MI); the second are patients
who have suffered an MI within one year (90 days to one-year post MI) to see if the cells can reduce the size of older, more established scar. In addition to measuring scar
size, ALLSTAR will also look at a variety of clinical and quality of life endpoints. Phase I of the ALLSTAR trial was a 14 patient trial conducted to determine if
allogeneic CDCs are safe for patients. Phase I of the trial was funded in large part by a grant received from the National Institutes of Health, or NIH.  The primary
endpoints focused on acute effects of cell delivery and potential immune consequences of allogeneic cell delivery. Patient enrollment was completed for the Phase I
portion of the trial in October 2013. Preliminary 12 month MRI data collected on the patients in the Phase I open-label dose-escalation study revealed that those patients
who would be included in the Phase II clinical study by virtue of dose and tissue type compatibility exhibited measurable improvement in ejection fraction, a global
measure of the heart's pumping ability. Ejection fraction improved by 5.2%. Additionally, there was a relative reduction in scar size of 20.7%. Measurements of viable
mass and regional function also showed quantifiable improvements.
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In December 2013, Capricor received notification from the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, or the NHLBI, Gene and Cell Therapy Data Safety Monitoring
Board that the 14-patient Phase I portion had met its safety endpoints and that Capricor was cleared to begin the Phase II portion of the trial. Capricor began enrollment
of the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR study in the first quarter of 2014.  Phase II is a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial which is powered to detect a
reduction in infarct (scar) size as measured by MRI in both groups of patients, those with recent and chronic MI, at the one year follow-up. The Phase II portion of the
trial was designed to enroll up to 300 patients. To date, enrollment in the Phase II portion of the study has been slower than expected; however, Capricor is actively
pursuing additional initiatives to increase the rate of enrollment, which may include, among other things, adding additional sites in the U.S. and Canada. It is Capricor’s
intent to perform an interim analysis which, if successful, could result in a reduction in the number of patients necessary for achieving statistical significance and meeting
the primary endpoint, which is reduction in infarct size at 12 months post infusion. Whether Capricor performs the interim analysis is subject to the concurrence of
interested parties, including the FDA. As infarct size was reduced significantly in the CADUCEUS trial which treated patients at six months (as discussed below),
Capricor intends to get a preliminary readout of ALLSTAR Phase II at six months post infusion. Phase II of the ALLSTAR study is being funded in large part through
the support of the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM.
 
In December 2013, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option with Janssen Biotech, Inc., or Janssen. Under the agreement, Janssen
has an exclusive option to enter into an exclusive license agreement with Capricor, pursuant to which, if exercised, Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive license
to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology, except as may otherwise be agreed with respect
to certain indications.

 
Additionally, Capricor has been awarded a grant for approximately $3.0 million from the NIH to support further development of the CAP-1002 product. In June 2014,
we received approval from the NIH to use the funds from the grant for the first part of the DYNAMIC (dilated cardiomyopathy intervention with allogeneic
myocardially-regenerative cells) trial, which is being sponsored by Capricor. The first part of the DYNAMIC trial used CAP-1002 to treat patients with advanced heart
failure utilizing triple-vessel intracoronary infusion. We initiated enrollment of the DYNAMIC trial in December 2014 and completed enrollment in April 2015. Initial
top-line results are expected to be reported in late 2015.
 
Furthermore, we have announced plans to pursue a clinical program utilizing CAP-1002 as a potential treatment for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, or DMD. The
clinical program will aim to treat cardiac dysfunction associated with the disease. We have received FDA clearance for our investigational new drug, or IND, for this
trial. The Phase I/II clinical trial, which is named HOPE-Duchenne (halt cardiomyopathy progression in duchenne), is designed to enroll up to 24 patients in a
randomized, multi-center study evaluating the safety and preliminary efficacy of CAP-1002. Patients will receive CAP-1002 in all three coronary arteries which will
allow for it to be delivered to wide areas of the myocardium. Additionally, in April 2015, Capricor was granted orphan drug designation by the FDA for CAP-1002 for
the treatment of cardiomyopathy associated with DMD.
 

· Cenderitide (CD-NP): Cenderitide belongs to a class of drugs called natriuretic peptides. Preclinical and clinical data have shown that the natriuretic peptide class can
act on multiple disease processes that play a role in negative outcomes associated with heart failure. Cenderitide’s treatment goal and target indication is to provide a
novel and effective therapeutic option for the outpatient treatment of heart failure, thereby addressing a critical unmet need. Cenderitide is being designed as an
outpatient therapy to be delivered continuously using a validated subcutaneous infusion pump for up to 90 days (the “post-acute” period) following an acute heart failure
hospital admission, as well as for other potential indications. Cenderitide was designed by scientists at the Mayo Clinic to be the only dual natriuretic peptide receptor
agonist. We initiated a Phase II clinical study of Cenderitide in January 2015 and completed enrollment in the first cohort in March 2015. Additionally, we entered into
an Investigator-Initiated Research Support Agreement with Insulet Corporation, or Insulet. Pursuant to the agreement with Insulet, Insulet agreed to support our research
by engaging in certain product development, project management and design control activities in addition to product supply for the Cenderitide clinical trial. We are
utilizing the Insulet drug delivery system based on the OmniPod® technology. The first cohort of the trial enrolled 14 patients with stable, chronic heart failure. Patients
received Cenderitide through subcutaneous infusion using Insulet’s drug delivery system technology. The drug was tolerated and there were no significant adverse
events. Capricor has decided to conduct an additional small cohort in the study to further assess the safety and efficacy of this product candidate, which will include
higher dose levels of Cenderitide. This study will assess the safety and tolerability, pharmacokinetics profiles and pharmacodynamic response to increasing dose levels
of Cenderitide. Following these studies, Capricor will determine whether to conduct additional clinical studies to further assess the safety and efficacy of this product
candidate. Initial topline results are expected to be reported in late 2015 or early 2016.
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· Exosomes: Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules, including proteins and microRNAs, which, when

released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular functions. Exosomes act as a transport vehicle out of the cell for microRNA, other fragments of genetic
material and proteins that act as messengers between cells, ultimately providing regulatory function for many cell processes, including inflammation, angiogenesis,
programmed cell death (apoptosis) and scarring. Pre-clinical research has shown that exogenous exosomes can be used as therapeutic agents aimed to direct or, in some
cases, re-direct cellular activities. Their size, ease of crossing cell membranes, and ability to communicate in native cellular language makes them a class of exciting and
novel therapeutic agents. We are currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible future therapeutic benefits that exosomes may possess.
 

· CAP-1001: CAP-1001 consists of autologous CDCs. This product was used in the Phase I CADUCEUS clinical trial, which was sponsored and conducted by CSMC in
collaboration with JHU. In that study, 25 patients were enrolled, 17 of which received autologous CDCs. 16 of the 17 treated patients showed a mean reduction of
approximately 45% in scar mass and an increase in viable heart muscle one-year post heart attack. The eight patients in the control group had no significant change in
infarct (scar) size. At present, there is no plan for another clinical trial for CAP-1001. The data from CADUCEUS, using autologous CDCs, suggests that the cells are
effective in reducing scar within several months of a heart attack. The ALLSTAR trial is designed to validate the results of CADUCEUS using an allogeneic product
while also looking for potential efficacy in patients between 90 days and one year post MI with a more chronic scar, a patient population that CADUCEUS was not
designed to study.
 

· CU-NP: CU-NP is a pre-clinical rationally-designed natriuretic peptide that consists of amino acid chains identical to those produced by the human body, specifically
the ring structure of C-type natriuretic peptide, or CNP, and the N- and C-termini of Urodilatin, or URO. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with
clinical development of this product.

 
· CSps: CSps are multicellular clusters called cardiospheres, a 3D micro-tissue from which CDCs are derived, and have shown significant healing effects in pre-clinical

models of heart failure. While Capricor considers the CSps an important product, at present there is no plan for a clinical trial for CSps.
 

We have no product sales to date and will not have the ability to generate any product revenue until after we have received approval from the FDA or equivalent
foreign regulatory bodies to begin selling our pharmaceutical product candidates. Developing pharmaceutical products is a lengthy and very expensive process. Even if we
obtain the capital necessary to continue the development of our product candidates, whether through a strategic transaction or otherwise, we do not expect to complete the
development of a product candidate for many years, if ever. To date, most of our development expenses have related to our product candidates, CAP-1002 and Cenderitide. As
we proceed with the clinical development of CAP-1002 and other potential indications for CAP-1002, and as we further develop Cenderitide, exosomes and other additional
products, our expenses will further increase. To the extent that we are successful in acquiring additional product candidates for our development pipeline, our need to finance
further research and development activities will continue increasing. Accordingly, our success depends not only on the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, but also on
our ability to finance the development of the products. Our major sources of working capital have been proceeds from private and public equity sales, grants received from the
NIH, a payment from Janssen and a loan award from CIRM.

 
Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs, supplies, clinical trial costs, patient treatment costs, consulting

fees, costs of personnel and supplies for manufacturing, costs of service providers for pre-clinical, clinical and manufacturing, and certain legal expenses resulting from
intellectual property prosecution, stock compensation expense and other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of our product candidates.
Except for certain capitalized intangible assets, R&D costs are expensed as incurred.

 
General and administrative, or G&A, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance and other administrative personnel, stock

compensation expense, accounting, legal and other professional fees, consulting expenses, rent for corporate offices, business insurance and other corporate expenses.
 
Our results have included non-cash compensation expense due to the issuance of stock options and warrants, as applicable. We expense the fair value of stock options

and warrants over their vesting period as applicable. When more precise pricing data is unavailable, we determine the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The terms and vesting schedules for share-based awards vary by type of grant and the employment status of the grantee. Generally, the awards vest based upon
time-based or performance-based conditions. Performance-based conditions generally include the attainment of goals related to our financial performance and product
development. Stock-based compensation expense is included in the consolidated statements of operations under G&A or R&D expenses, as applicable. We expect to record
additional non-cash compensation expense in the future, which may be significant.
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Results of Operations
 

General and Administrative Expenses. G&A expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $0.9 million and $0.7 million,
respectively. The increase in the second quarter of 2015 of approximately $0.2 million compared to the same period of 2014 is primarily attributable to an increase in personnel
expenses related to increased headcount and stock-based compensation.

 
G&A expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $2.3 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The increase during the first six

months of 2015 of approximately $0.8 million compared to the same period of 2014 is primarily attributable to an increase of approximately $0.6 million related to stock-based
compensation expense. Furthermore, there was an increase of approximately $0.2 million in compensation and recruiting costs related to increased headcount in the six months
ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same period of 2014.

 
Research and Development Expenses. R&D expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $3.4 million and $1.9 million,

respectively. The increase of approximately $1.5 million in the second quarter of 2015 over the same period of 2014 is primarily due to the fact that the Company was actively
conducting clinical trial activities of CAP-1002 (DYNAMIC and ALLSTAR) and Cenderitide in 2015 while we continued our research and development efforts. This resulted
in an increase of approximately $1.2 million in clinical costs primarily related to contract research organizations and manufacturing costs associated with CAP-1002 and
Cenderitide, as well as patient costs and expenses for the operational team that supports our clinical trials. Additionally, for the three months ended June 30, 2015, there was an
increase of approximately $0.2 million in R&D expenses related to our Janssen CMC development and process development work as compared to the same period in 2014.
Furthermore, there was an increase in R&D expenses related to our product candidates, including exosomes, of approximately $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30,
2015 as compared to the same period of 2014.
 

R&D expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $7.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively. The increase of approximately $4.0
million in the first half of 2015 over the same period of 2014 is primarily due to the fact that the Company was actively conducting clinical trial activities of CAP-1002
(DYNAMIC and ALLSTAR) and Cenderitide in 2015 while we continued our research and development efforts. This resulted in an increase of approximately $3.2 million in
clinical costs primarily related to contract research organizations and manufacturing costs associated with CAP-1002 and Cenderitide, as well as patient costs and expenses for
the operational team that supports our clinical trials. Additionally, for the six months ended June 30, 2015, there was an increase of approximately $0.4 million in R&D
expenses related to our Janssen CMC development and process development work as compared to the same period in 2014. Furthermore, there was an increase in R&D
expenses related to our product candidates, including exosomes, of approximately $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same period of 2014.
 

  CAP-1002 – Although the development of CAP-1002 is in its early stages, we believe that it has the potential to treat heart disease and its complications. In December
2013, the NHLBI Gene and Cell Therapy Data Safety Monitoring Board gave Capricor approval to move into the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR trial. We expect to spend
approximately $10.0 million to $14.0 million during 2015 on the development of CAP-1002, which expenses are primarily related to our Phase II ALLSTAR trial and the
DYNAMIC trial. The Phase I portion of the ALLSTAR trial was funded in large part through a grant received from the NIH. We began enrollment of the Phase II portion of the
ALLSTAR trial in the first quarter of 2014. Phase II is a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-centered study in which CAP-1002 will be administered to up to 300 patients
via intracoronary infusion within 30 days to one year following a heart attack. Capricor is actively pursuing additional initiatives to increase the rate of enrollment, which may
include adding additional sites in the U.S. and Canada. It is Capricor’s intent to perform an interim analysis which, if successful, could result in a reduction in the number of
patients necessary for achieving statistical significance and meeting the primary endpoint, which is reduction in infarct size at 12 months post infusion. Whether Capricor will
perform an interim analysis is subject to the concurrence of interested parties, including the FDA. Phase II is funded in large part through the support of a loan award from
CIRM for approximately $19.8 million. The trial will measure several endpoints, including infarct size. Additional endpoints include left ventricular end-systolic and diastolic
volume and ejection fraction at six and twelve months. Our strategy for further development of CAP-1002 will depend to a large degree on the outcome of these planned studies.
Capricor recently completed enrollment of the first part of the DYNAMIC clinical trial. DYNAMIC is funded in large part through a grant award from the NIH. Except as may
otherwise be agreed with respect to certain indications, if Janssen exercises its exclusive option under the Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option between the
Company and Janssen, or the Janssen Agreement, to enter into an exclusive license agreement pursuant to which Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive license to exploit
CAP-1002 as well as certain allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology, Janssen will thereafter be responsible for any additional trials
and future development costs with respect to CAP-1002. Furthermore, as we proceed with the initiation of the HOPE-Duchenne trial, which is designed to evaluate the treatment
of cardiac dysfunction associated with DMD, we expect our expenses related to CAP-1002 to increase further.
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Cenderitide – We acquired the rights to Cenderitide in 2006, and have incurred substantial losses surrounding the development of the product to date. Prior to the

merger between Capricor and Nile, Nile had incurred approximately $19.9 million in expenses directly relating to the Cenderitide development program through September 30,
2013. We recently completed enrollment of the first cohort of a Phase II trial which enrolled 14 patients with stable, chronic heart failure. Capricor has decided to conduct an
additional small cohort in the study to further assess the safety and efficacy of this product candidate, which will include higher dose levels of Cenderitide. We expect to spend
approximately $1.0 million to $2.0 million during 2015 in development expenses related to the Cenderitide clinical program. Following these studies, Capricor will determine
whether to conduct additional clinical studies to further assess the safety and efficacy of this product candidate.

 
CAP-1001 – In 2011, CSMC, in collaboration with JHU, completed a Phase I, 25 patient clinical trial called CADUCEUS. In this study, 25 patients were enrolled who

had suffered a heart attack within a mean of 65 days. 17 of those patients received CAP-1001 and the remaining eight patients received standard of care. 12 months after the
study was completed, no measurable safety effects occurred in the 17 patients who were treated with CAP-1001. 16 of the 17 treated patients showed a mean reduction of
approximately 45% in scar mass and an increase in viable heart muscle one-year post heart attack. The eight patients in the control group had no significant change in infarct
(scar) size. At present, there is no plan for another clinical trial for CAP-1001. Capricor’s strategy for further development of CAP-1001 will depend to a large degree on the
outcome of its trials involving CAP-1002 and its ability to obtain significant capital to conduct further studies with CAP-1001.

 
Exosomes – Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules, including proteins and microRNAs, which,

when released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular functions. Capricor is currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible future therapeutic benefits
that exosomes may possess.

 
CU-NP – Nile acquired the rights to CU-NP in September 2008. Prior to the merger between Capricor and Nile, Nile had incurred approximately $0.7 million in

expenses directly relating to the CU-NP development program through September 30, 2013. We are currently evaluating whether to proceed with further clinical development
of this product candidate.

 
CSps – This product candidate consists of multicellular clusters called cardiospheres. CSps are in pre-clinical development and have yet to be studied in humans. At

present, there is no plan for a clinical trial of CSps.
 
Our expenditures on current and future clinical development programs, particularly our CAP-1002 and Cenderitide programs, are expected to be substantial and to

increase in relation to our available capital resources. However, these planned expenditures are subject to many uncertainties, including the results of clinical trials and whether
we develop any of our product candidates with a partner or independently. As a result, we cannot predict with any significant degree of certainty the amount of time which will
be required to complete our clinical trials, the costs of completing research and development projects or whether, when and to what extent we will generate revenues from the
commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates. The duration and cost of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life of a project as a result of unanticipated
events arising during manufacturing and clinical development and as a result of a variety of other factors, including:
 

· the number of trials and studies in a clinical program;
· the number of patients who participate in the trials;
· the number of sites included in the trials;
· the rates of patient recruitment and enrollment;
· the duration of patient treatment and follow-up;
· the costs of manufacturing our product candidates; and
· the costs, requirements and timing of, and the ability to secure, regulatory approvals.

 
Grant Income. Grant income for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $0.4 million and zero, respectively. This increase in grant income

in the second quarter of 2015 as compared to the second quarter of 2014 is due to the timing of disbursements under our Phase IIB Bridge grant through the NIH for expenses
incurred in connection with our DYNAMIC clinical trial.

 
Grant income for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $1.1 million and zero, respectively. This increase in grant income in the first half of

2015 as compared to the same period of 2014 is due to the timing of disbursements under our Phase IIB Bridge grant through the NIH for expenses incurred in the first half of
2015 for our DYNAMIC clinical trial.

 
Collaboration Income.  As a result of the Janssen Agreement, collaboration income for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $0.9

million and $1.0 million, respectively. A ratable portion of the payment to Capricor was recognized in both the three months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 under the
terms of the Janssen Agreement. The Company periodically reviews the estimated performance period of its contract based on the estimated progress of its project.
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Collaboration income for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $2.0 million and $2.1 million, respectively. A ratable portion of the

payment to Capricor was recognized in both the six months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 under the terms of the Janssen Agreement. The Company periodically
reviews the estimated performance period of its contract based on the estimated progress of its project.
 

Investment Income. Investment income for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $156 and $1,196, respectively. The decrease in investment income in
the second quarter of 2015 as compared to the same period in 2014 is primarily due to the timing of maturity and interest payments in our marketable securities account.

 
Investment income for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $431 and $1,919, respectively. The decrease in investment income in the first half of 2015 as

compared to the same period in 2014 is primarily due to the timing of maturity and interest payments in our marketable securities account.
 

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $61,681 and $54,704, respectively. This increase in interest expense in the
second quarter of 2015 as compared to the same period in 2014 is due to accrued interest on the CIRM loan award related to the outstanding principal balance being higher in the
second quarter of 2015 as compared to the same period of 2014.

 
Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $123,362 and $80,031, respectively. The increase in interest expense in the first half of 2015 as

compared to the same period in 2014 is due to the outstanding principal balance of the CIRM loan award being higher in the first half of 2015 as compared to the same period of
2014.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

The following table summarizes our liquidity and capital resources as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and our net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, and is intended to supplement the more detailed discussion that follows. The amounts stated are expressed in
thousands.

  
Liquidity and capital resources  June 30, 2015   December 31, 2014 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,038  $ 8,035 
Working capital  $ 14,780  $ 5,308 
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 4,555  $ (6,249)
 
  Six months ended June 30,  
Cash flow data  2015   2014  
Cash provided by (used in):         

Operating activities  $ (3,930)  $ 5,327 
Investing activities   (15,548)   (163)
Financing activities   16,481   4,689 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ (2,997)  $ 9,853 
  
Our total cash resources, not including restricted cash, as of June 30, 2015 were approximately $5.0 million compared to approximately $8.0 million as of December

31, 2014. The decrease in total cash resources from December 31, 2014 to June 30, 2015 is primarily due to an allocation of cash and cash equivalents to marketable securities.
Total marketable securities, consisting primarily of United States treasuries, were approximately $15.5 million as of June 30, 2015, as compared to zero as of December 31,
2014. The increase in working capital and stockholders’ equity as of June 30, 2015 is primarily due to the approximately $17.0 million received as a result of the two private
placements of our common stock completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. As of June 30, 2015, we had approximately $19.1 million in total liabilities, of which
approximately $6.4 million was recorded as deferred income under the Janssen Agreement, and approximately $14.8 million in net working capital. We incurred a net loss of
approximately $3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015.
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Cash used in operating activities was approximately $3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and cash provided by operating activities was approximately

$5.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014. The difference of approximately $9.2 million in cash from operating activities is primarily due to our receipt of the $12.5
million payment under the terms of the Janssen Agreement in early 2014. Additionally, there was an increase in total operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2015
of approximately $4.8 million as compared to the same period of 2014. To the extent we obtain sufficient capital and/or long-term debt funding and are able to continue
developing our product candidates, including as we expand our technology portfolio and engage in further research and development activities, and, in particular, conduct pre-
clinical studies and clinical trials, we expect to continue incurring substantial and increasing losses, which will generate negative net cash flows from operating activities.

  
We had cash flow used in investing activities of approximately $15.5 million and $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The

difference in cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same period of 2014 is primarily due to the purchase of marketable
securities in the first quarter of 2015.

 
We had cash provided by financing activities of approximately $16.5 million and $4.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The

difference in cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same period of 2014 is primarily a result of the two private
placements of our common stock completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

 
Phase II of Capricor’s ALLSTAR trial has been funded in large part through a loan award from CIRM. Subject to sufficient funding, following completion of the

Phase II trial there may be a Phase IIb and/or Phase III trial. If we continue with a Phase IIb and/or Phase III trial, we will need substantial additional capital in order to continue
the development of CAP-1002. Pursuant to the Janssen Agreement, the chemistry, manufacturing and controls package will be developed by the joint efforts of Janssen and
Capricor. Capricor will be required to reimburse Janssen for its costs of development up to an agreed-upon maximum amount. If Janssen exercises its exclusive option under the
Janssen Agreement to enter into an exclusive license agreement with Capricor, Janssen will be responsible for any additional trials and future development costs with respect to
CAP-1002, except for those certain excluded indications.

 
We will need substantial additional capital in order to continue the development of Cenderitide. In March 2015, we completed enrollment of a Phase II clinical trial of

Cenderitide and have decided to conduct an additional small cohort in the study to further assess the safety and efficacy of this product candidate, which will include higher dose
levels of Cenderitide. Depending on the outcome of the trial and the availability of resources, the Phase II clinical trial may be followed by an additional clinical study. In March
2011, the FDA granted fast track designation to Cenderitide in the post-acute period. According to the FDA’s website, fast track designation facilitates the development and
expeditious review of drugs and biologics intended to treat serious or life-threatening conditions and that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs.

 
Our research and development expenses will also increase as we further develop our exosomes program and if we conduct additional studies with CAP-1002, such as

the second part of the DYNAMIC study and the clinical development of CAP-1002 to treat Duchenne muscular dystrophy cardiomyopathy. In April 2015, Capricor was granted
orphan drug designation by the FDA for CAP-1002 for the treatment of cardiomyopathy associated with DMD. Orphan drug designation is granted by the FDA Office of
Orphan Drug Products to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition affecting fewer than 200,000 people in the U.S. This designation confers special incentives to the
drug developer, including tax credits on the clinical development costs and prescription drug user fee waivers and may allow for a seven year period of market exclusivity in the
U.S. upon FDA approval.
 

From inception through June 30, 2015, we financed our operations through private and public sales of our equity securities, NIH grants, a payment from Janssen and a
CIRM loan award. In the first quarter of 2015, we completed two private placements, securing approximately $17.0 million in additional capital through the issuance of
common equity. As we have not generated any revenue from the sale of our products to date, and we do not expect to generate revenue for several years, if ever, we will need to
raise substantial additional capital in order to fund our immediate general corporate activities and, thereafter, to fund our research and development, including our long-term
plans for clinical trials and new product development.  We may seek to raise additional funds through various potential sources, such as equity and debt financings, or through
strategic collaborations and license agreements.  We can give no assurances that we will be able to secure such additional sources of funds to support our operations, or if such
funds are available to us, that such additional financing will be sufficient to meet our needs. Moreover, to the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities,
our stockholders may experience significant dilution, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through
collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us.
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Our estimates regarding the sufficiency of our financial resources are based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong. We may need to obtain additional funds

sooner than planned or in greater amounts than we currently anticipate. The actual amount of funds we will need to operate is subject to many factors, some of which are beyond
our control. These factors include the following:

 
· the progress of our research activities;
· the number and scope of our research programs;
· the progress of our pre-clinical and clinical development activities;
· the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we have entered into research and development agreements;
· our ability to maintain current research and development programs and to establish new research and development and licensing arrangements;
· the costs involved in prosecuting and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and
· the costs and timing of regulatory approvals.

 
Financing Activities by the Company
 

February 2015 Financing. On February 3, 2015, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with certain accredited investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue
and sell, in a private placement, or PIPE 2, to the PIPE 2 investors an aggregate of 1,658,822 shares of our common stock at a price per share of $4.25 for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $7,050,000.
 

In connection with PIPE 2, we entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the investors in PIPE 2 on February 3, 2015. Pursuant to the terms of the Registration
Rights Agreement for PIPE 2, we were obligated (i) to prepare and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement to register for resale the shares
issued and sold in PIPE 2, and (ii) to use our reasonable best efforts to cause the applicable registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission as soon as practicable, in each case subject to certain deadlines. We filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-202589), or the PIPE Form S-1,
to register for resale the shares of common stock underlying the shares issued in PIPE 2, which such PIPE Form S-1 was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 30, 2015. On June 4, 2015, we filed a post-effective amendment to the PIPE Form S-1 to convert the PIPE Form S-1 to a Registration Statement on Form
S-3, which post-effective amendment was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2015.

 
We may also be required to effect certain registrations to register for resale the shares issued and sold in PIPE 2 in connection with certain “piggy-back” registration

rights granted to the PIPE 2 investors. We will be required to pay to each PIPE 2 investor liquidated damages equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such
investor pursuant to the PIPE 2 Share Purchase Agreement for the shares per month (up to a cap of 10.0%) if we do not meet certain obligations with respect to the registration
of the shares, subject to certain conditions.
 

January 2015 Financing. On January 9, 2015, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with select investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell to the
investors, in a private placement, or PIPE 1, an aggregate of 2,839,045 shares of our common stock at a price per share of $3.523 for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $10,000,000.

 
In connection with PIPE 1, we also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the PIPE 1 investors on January 9, 2015. Pursuant to the terms of the

Registration Rights Agreement, we were obligated (i) to prepare and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement to register for resale the shares
issued and sold in PIPE 1, and (ii) to use our reasonable best efforts to cause the applicable registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission as soon as practicable, in each case subject to certain deadlines. We filed the PIPE Form S-1to register for resale the shares of common stock underlying the shares
issued in PIPE 1, which such PIPE Form S-1 was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2015. On June 4, 2015, we filed a post-effective
amendment to the PIPE Form S-1 to convert the PIPE Form S-1 to a Registration Statement on Form S-3, which post-effective amendment was declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2015.

 
We may also be required to effect certain registrations to register for resale the shares issued and sold in PIPE 1 in connection with certain “piggy-back” registration

rights granted to the PIPE 1 investors. We will be required to pay to each PIPE 1 investor liquidated damages equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such
investor pursuant to the PIPE 1 Share Purchase Agreement for the shares per month (up to a cap of 10.0%) if we do not meet certain obligations with respect to the registration
of the shares, subject to certain conditions.
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On February 2, 2015, we entered into an amendment to the PIPE 1 Share Purchase Agreement with certain of the PIPE 1 investors, which amended certain provisions

of such Share Purchase Agreement limiting our ability to issue additional shares of our common stock until the filing of an effective registration statement for the PIPE 1 shares.
As a result of such amendment, the restriction on the issuance of additional shares was eliminated.
 

March 2013 Financing. On March 15, 2013, we entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with certain accredited investors pursuant to which we agreed to
sell an aggregate principal amount of up to $500,000 of secured convertible promissory notes, or the 2013 Notes, for an aggregate original issue price of $425,000, representing
a 15% original issue discount. The closing of the private placement also occurred on March 15, 2013, and resulted in the sale of 2013 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$450,000 for an aggregate original issue price of $382,500.

 
On September 27, 2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the 2013 Notes, which provided, among other things, that upon a Change

of Control (as defined in the 2013 Notes), the conversion price applicable to the 2013 Notes and the exercise price applicable to the warrants issuable upon a Change of Control
will be equal to the average dollar volume weighted average price, or VWAP, of our common stock for each trading day during the period from July 8, 2013 to September 30,
2013. The average VWAP during such period was approximately $0.045 per share. Additionally, pursuant to the amendment, upon a conversion of the 2013 Notes in connection
with a Change of Control, the holders confirmed that all obligations under the 2013 Notes would be deemed satisfied in full and released us from any claims relating to the
2013 Notes.

 
On October 21, 2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the Convertible Note Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we sold to such

holders additional notes having an aggregate principal amount of $120,510, or the Additional Notes. The Additional Notes have identical terms and conditions as the 2013
Notes described above and were allocated among the holders on a pro rata basis based on their initial purchase of the 2013 Notes. In exchange for the issuance of the Additional
Notes, we received aggregate gross proceeds of $102,433. The 2013 Notes and the Additional Notes are collectively referred to herein as the 2013 Notes.

 
The 2013 Notes converted at the close of the merger between Capricor and Nile on November 20, 2013 into 251,044 shares of our common stock on a post-reverse

stock split basis. Additionally, 251,044 warrants to purchase our common stock at a strike price of $2.2725, on a post-reverse stock split basis, were issued to the holders of the
2013 Notes. We filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1, (SEC File No. 333-195385), or the Note Shares Form S-1, to register for resale the shares of common stock
underlying the 2013 Notes, which such Note Shares Form S-1 was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 6, 2014. On July 20, 2015, we filed a
post-effective amendment to the Note Shares Form S-1 to convert the Note Shares Form S-1 to a Registration Statement on Form S-3, which post-effective amendment was
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2015.
 
Financing Activities by Capricor, Inc.

 
CIRM Loan Agreement. On February 5, 2013, Capricor entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM, or the CIRM Loan Agreement, pursuant to which CIRM agreed to

disburse $19,782,136 to Capricor over a period of approximately three and one-half years to support Phase II of the ALLSTAR clinical trial.
 

Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at the end of the loan period. The loan also provides for the payment of a
risk premium whereby Capricor is required to pay CIRM a premium of up to 500% of the loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term
of five years and is extendable annually up to ten years at Capricor’s option if certain conditions are met. The interest rate for the initial term is set at the one-year LIBOR rate
plus 2% (“base rate”), compounded annually, and becomes due at the end of the fifth year. After the fifth year, if the term of the loan is extended and if certain conditions are
met, the interest rate will increase by 1% over the base rate each sequential year thereafter, with a maximum increase of 5% over the base rate in the tenth year. CIRM has the
right to cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain other conditions are not met. The Company is also required to meet certain progress milestones set forth in
the CIRM Notice of Loan Award with respect to the progress of the ALLSTAR clinical trial and manufacturing of the product. There is no assurance that CIRM will continue
the disbursement of funds. Capricor and CIRM have agreed to adjust future disbursements of loan proceeds to align with actual patient enrollment.
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Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM deducted $36,667 from the initial disbursement to cover its costs in conducting financial due diligence on

Capricor. According to the original CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM intended to also deduct approximately $16,667 from each disbursement made in the second and third year of
the loan period to cover its costs of continuing due diligence according to the payment disbursement schedule. However, in June 2014, the CIRM Loan Agreement was amended
to adjust the due diligence costs which can be deducted from the disbursements. CIRM refunded approximately $6,667 to Capricor, which amount CIRM had previously
withheld, and CIRM will not be permitted to withhold additional funds from the indirect costs portion of Capricor’s future disbursements. So long as Capricor is not in default
under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, the loan may be forgiven during the term of the project period if Capricor abandons the trial due to the occurrence of a no-go
milestone. After the end of the project period, the loan may also be forgiven if Capricor elects to abandon the project under certain circumstances. Under the terms of the CIRM
Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to meet certain financial milestones by demonstrating to CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that it has sufficient funds
available to cover all costs and expenses anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at least the following 12-month period, less the costs budgeted
to be covered by planned loan disbursements. Capricor did not issue stock, warrants or other equity to CIRM in connection with this award.

 
In addition to the foregoing, the timing of the distribution of funds pursuant to the CIRM Loan Agreement is contingent upon the availability of funds in the California

Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the California State Treasury, as determined by CIRM in its sole discretion.
 
Grant Award

 
In August 2013, Capricor was approved for a Phase IIB Bridge grant through the NIH Small Business Innovation Research, or SBIR, program for continued

development of its CAP-1002 product candidate. Under the terms of the grant, approximately $2,879,437 will be disbursed to us over a period of three years, subject to annual
and quarterly reporting requirements. In June 2014, Capricor received approval from the NIH to deploy this grant to fund the first part of the DYNAMIC trial. The first part of
the DYNAMIC trial used CAP-1002 to treat patients with advanced heart failure. As of June 30, 2015, approximately $1.7 million had been incurred under the terms of the
award.

 
Off -Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
There were no off-balance sheet arrangements as described by Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K as of June 30, 2015.
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an
ongoing basis, including research and development and clinical trial accruals, and stock-based compensation estimates. Our estimates are based on historical experience and
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates. We believe the following critical
accounting policies reflect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements and accompanying notes.

 
Grant Income
 

The determination as to when income is earned is dependent on the language in each specific grant. Generally, we recognize grant income in the period in which the
expense is incurred for those expenses that are deemed reimbursable under the terms of the grant.
 
Income from Collaborative Arrangements

 
Revenue from nonrefundable, up-front license or technology access payments under license and collaborative arrangements that are not dependent on any future

performance by us is recognized when such amounts are earned. If we have continuing obligations to perform under the arrangement, such fees are recognized over the
estimated period of the continuing performance obligation.
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We account for multiple element arrangements, such as license and development agreements in which a customer may purchase several deliverables, in accordance

with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Subtopic 605-25, Multiple Element Arrangements. For new or materially
amended multiple element arrangements, we identify the deliverables at the inception of the arrangement and each deliverable within a multiple deliverable revenue
arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit of accounting if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a standalone
basis and (2) for an arrangement that includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered
probable and substantially in our control. We allocate revenue to each non-contingent element based on the relative selling price of each element. When applying the relative
selling price method, we determine the selling price for each deliverable using vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or third-party evidence
(“TPE”) of selling price, if it exists. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for a deliverable, then we use the best estimated selling price for that deliverable. Revenue
allocated to each element is then recognized based on when the basic four revenue recognition criteria are met for each element.

 
We determined the deliverables under Capricor’s Collaboration Agreement with Janssen did not meet the criteria to be considered separate accounting units for the

purposes of revenue recognition. As a result, we recognized revenue from non-refundable, upfront fees ratably over the term of our performance under the agreement. The
upfront payments received, pending recognition as revenue, are recorded as deferred revenue and are classified as a short-term or long-term liability on the consolidated balance
sheets and amortized over the estimated period of performance. We periodically review the estimated performance period of our contract based on the progress of our project.
 
Research and Development Expenses and Accruals

 
Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs, supplies, clinical trial costs, patient treatment costs, consulting

fees, costs of personnel and supplies for manufacturing, costs of service providers for pre-clinical, clinical and manufacturing, and certain legal expenses resulting from
intellectual property prosecution, stock compensation expense and other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of our product candidates.
Except for certain capitalized intangible assets, R&D costs are expensed as incurred.
 

Our cost accruals for clinical trials and other R&D activities are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with numerous
clinical trial centers and Contract Research Organizations, or CROs, clinical study sites, laboratories, consultants or other clinical trial vendors that perform activities in
connection with a trial. Related contracts vary significantly in length and may be for a fixed amount, a variable amount based on actual costs incurred, capped at a certain limit,
or for a combination of fixed, variable and capped amounts. Activity levels are monitored through close communication with the CROs and other clinical trial vendors,
including detailed invoice and task completion review, analysis of expenses against budgeted amounts, analysis of work performed against approved contract budgets and
payment schedules, and recognition of any changes in scope of the services to be performed. Certain CRO and significant clinical trial vendors provide an estimate of costs
incurred but not invoiced at the end of each quarter for each individual trial. These estimates are reviewed and discussed with the CRO or vendor as necessary, and are included
in R&D expenses for the related period. For clinical study sites which are paid periodically on a per-subject basis to the institutions performing the clinical study, we accrue an
estimated amount based on subject screening and enrollment in each quarter. All estimates may differ significantly from the actual amount subsequently invoiced, which may
occur several months after the related services were performed.

 
In the normal course of business, we contract with third parties to perform various R&D activities in the on-going development of our product candidates. The

financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend on
factors such as the achievement of certain events, the successful enrollment of patients, and the completion of portions of the clinical trial or similar conditions. The objective of
the accrual policy is to match the recording of expenses in the financial statements to the actual services received and efforts expended. As such, expense accruals related to
clinical trials and other R&D activities are recognized based on our estimates of the degree of completion of the event or events specified in the applicable contract.

 
No adjustments for material changes in estimates have been recognized in any period presented.

 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

Our results include non-cash compensation expense as a result of the issuance of stock, stock options and warrants, as applicable. We have issued stock options to
employees, directors and consultants under our four stock option plans: (i) the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012
Restated Equity Incentive Plan (which superseded the 2006 Stock Option Plan), and (iv) the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan.
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We expense the fair value of stock-based compensation over the vesting period. When more precise pricing data is unavailable, we determine the fair value of stock

options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation. These
variables and assumptions include the weighted-average period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding, the volatility of our common stock, the risk-free
interest rate and the estimated rate of forfeitures of unvested stock options.

 
Stock options or other equity instruments to non-employees (including consultants) issued as consideration for goods or services received by us are accounted for

based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued (unless the fair value of the consideration received can be more reliably measured). The fair value of stock options is
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is periodically re-measured as the underlying options vest. The fair value of any options issued to non-employees
is recorded as expense over the applicable service periods.

 
The terms and vesting schedules for share-based awards vary by type of grant and the employment status of the grantee. Generally, the awards vest based upon time-

based or performance-based conditions. Performance-based conditions generally include the attainment of goals related to our financial and development performance. Stock-
based compensation expense is included in general and administrative expense or research and development expense, as applicable, in the Statements of Operations. We expect
to record additional non-cash compensation expense in the future, which may be significant.
 
Warrant Liability

 
We previously accounted for warrants issued in connection with the financing we completed in April 2012 and the embedded derivative warrant liability contained in

the 2013 Notes in accordance with the guidance on Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, which provides that we
classify the warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjust the instrument to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each
balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component of other income or expense. The 2013 Notes converted into shares of Company
common stock and additional warrants for Company common stock were issued to the holders. Management has determined the value of the warrant liability to be insignificant
at June 30, 2015, and no such liability has been reflected on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
 
Long-Term Debt

 
Capricor accounts for the loan proceeds under its CIRM Loan Agreement as long-term liabilities. Capricor recognizes the CIRM loan disbursements as a loan payable

as the principal is disbursed rather than recognizing the full amount of the award. Capricor recognizes the disbursements in this manner since the period in which the loan will
be paid back will not be in the foreseeable future. The terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement contain certain forgiveness provisions that may allow for the principal and interest of
the loan to be forgiven. The potential for forgiveness of the loan is contingent upon many conditions, some of which are outside of Capricor’s control, and no such estimates are
made to determine a value for this potential forgiveness.
 
Restricted Cash
 

Capricor accounts for the disbursements received under the CIRM Loan Agreement which have not been attributed to a particular project’s costs through the current
period as restricted cash. Generally, a reduction in restricted cash occurs when the Company deems certain costs are attributable to the ALLSTAR clinical trial.
 
Recently Issued or Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 will
eliminate transaction- and industry-specific revenue recognition guidance under current generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and replace it with a principle-based approach for determining revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 will require that companies recognize revenue based on the value of
transferred goods or services as they occur in the contract. ASU 2014-09 also will require additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract.
ASU 2014-09 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is not permitted. Entities can transition to the standard either
retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect of the
standard on its ongoing financial reporting.
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In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. This standard modifies existing

consolidation guidance for reporting organizations that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. ASU 2015-02 is effective for fiscal years
and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2015, and requires either a retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adoption. Early adoption
is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its condensed consolidated financial statements, as well as the available transition
methods.

 
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, including its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and

the Securities and Exchange Commission, did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future condensed consolidated
financial statement presentation or disclosures. For a more detailed listing of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see Note 1 – “Organization and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2015.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

 
Interest Rate Sensitivity
 

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our marketable securities and cash and cash equivalents. As of June 30, 2015, the fair value
of our cash, cash equivalents, including restricted cash, and marketable securities was approximately $21.1 million. Additionally, as of June 30, 2015, Capricor’s portfolio was
classified as cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which consist primarily of money market funds and bank money market, which included short term United States
treasuries, bank savings and checking accounts. Capricor did not have any investments with significant exposure to the subprime mortgage market issues.

 
The goal of our investment policy is to place our investments with highly rated credit issuers and limit the amount of credit exposure. We seek to improve the safety

and likelihood of preservation of our invested funds by limiting default risk and market risk. Our investments may be exposed to market risk due to fluctuation in interest rates,
which may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our investments, if any. We will manage this exposure by performing ongoing evaluations of our investments.
Due to the short-term maturities, if any, of our investments to date, their carrying value has always approximated their fair value. Our policy is to mitigate default risk by
investing in high credit quality securities, and we currently do not hedge interest rate exposure. Due to our policy of making investments in United States treasury securities with
primarily short-term maturities, we believe that the fair value of our investment portfolio would not be significantly impacted by a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or
decrease in interest rates.
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Item 4.  Controls and Procedures.

 
We have adopted and maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

 
As required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the

participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of the
end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

 
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

 
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2015 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to

materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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 PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

 
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings.
 

We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings.
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors.

 
There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those previously disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31, 2014 that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2015.
 
Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

 
None.
 

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures.
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 5.  Other Information.
 

None.
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Item 6.  Exhibits.

 
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on

February 9, 2007).
  
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,

filed with the Commission on November 26, 2013).
  
3.3 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on February 9, 2007).
  
4.1 Form of Warrant issued to Investors in March 2012 Registered Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,

filed with the Commission on April 2, 2012).
  
4.2 Form of Convertible Note Purchase Agreement entered into among the Company and various accredited investors on March 15, 2013 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 22, 2013).
  
4.3 Form of Note issued to Various Accredited Investors on March 15, 2013 (includes Form of Warrant as Exhibit A) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 22, 2013).
  
10.1 Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2015, by and0 between Capricor, Inc. and Cedars-Sinai Medical Center.*‡
  
10.2 Lease Agreement, dated March 29, 2012, between Capricor, Inc. and The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC.*
  
10.3 First Amendment to the Lease Agreement, dated June 13, 2013, between Capricor, Inc. and The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC.*
  
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.*
  
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.*
  
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
  
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
  
101 The following financial information from Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015 formatted in

eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (ii) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit) for the period from December 31, 2014 through June 30, 2015, (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated  Financial Statements.*

 
* Filed herewith.
 
‡ The Company has requested confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC
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 SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized.
 

 CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.
   
Date: August 13, 2015 By:  /s/ Linda Marbán, Ph.D.
  Linda Marbán, Ph.D.
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
Date: August 13, 2015 By:  /s/ Anthony Bergmann
  Anthony Bergmann
  Vice President of Finance
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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filed with the Commission on November 26, 2013).
  
3.3 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on February 9, 2007).
  
4.1 Form of Warrant issued to Investors in March 2012 Registered Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,

filed with the Commission on April 2, 2012).
  
4.2 Form of Convertible Note Purchase Agreement entered into among the Company and various accredited investors on March 15, 2013 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 22, 2013).
  
4.3 Form of Note issued to Various Accredited Investors on March 15, 2013 (includes Form of Warrant as Exhibit A) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 22, 2013).
  
10.1 Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2015, by and between Capricor, Inc. and Cedars-Sinai Medical Center.*‡
  
10.2 Lease Agreement, dated March 29, 2012, between Capricor, Inc. and The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC.*
  
10.3 First Amendment to the Lease Agreement, dated June 13, 2013, between Capricor, Inc. and The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC.*
  
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.*
  
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.*
  
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
  
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
  
101 The following financial information from Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015 formatted in

eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (ii) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit) for the period from December 31, 2014 through June 30, 2015, (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated  Financial Statements.*

 
* Filed herewith.
 
‡ The Company has requested confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.
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Exhibit 10.1

 
*** Text Omitted and Filed Separately

Confidential Treatment Requested
Under 17 C.F.R. §§ 200.80(b)(4)

and 240.24b-2
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
 
THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of June 10, 2015 (“Amendment Date”),

by and between CEDARS-SINAI MEDICAL CENTER, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (“CSMC”), and CAPRICOR, INC., a Delaware corporation
(“Licensee”), under the following circumstances:

 
A. CSMC and Licensee entered into an Exclusive License Agreement dated May 5, 2014, as amended by the First Amendment dated February 27, 2015 (the “License

Agreement”).
 
B. The parties desire to amend the License Agreement as further described

herein.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and in the License Agreement and for other good and valuable

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
 
1.          Defined Terms. Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the License Agreement.
 
2.          Amendment to the License Agreement. The following technology is hereby added to Revised Schedule A (Patent Rights) to the License Agreement:  

 
7.      
[…***…]
 

3 .          Other Provisions. This Amendment is a revision to the License Agreement only, it is not a novation thereof. Except as otherwise provided herein, the terms
and conditions of the License Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

 
4 .          Further Assurances. Each of the parties hereto shall execute such further documents and instruments, and do all such further acts, as may be necessary or

required in order to effectuate the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Amendment.
 
5 .          Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together

shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 

* Confidential Treatment Requested
 

  



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
Dated: June 10, 2015  CAPRICOR, INC.
     
   By: /s/ Karen Krasney
    Name: Karen Krasney
    Title:   EVP, General Counsel
     
Dated: June 10, 2015  CEDARS-SINAI MEDICAL CENTER
     
   By: /s/ James D. Laur, Esq.
    Name: James D. Laur, Esq.
    Title:   Vice President, Legal & Technology Affairs
     
   By: /s/ Edward M. Prunchunas
    Name: Edward M. Prunchunas
    Title:   Senior Vice President, Finance & Business Affairs & Chief Financial

Officer
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Exhibit 10.2

 
THIS LEASE IS NOT TO BE CONSTRUED AS AN OFFER AND IS NOT BINDING ON 

THE BUBBLE REAL ESTATE COMPANY, LLC. UNTIL IT IS SIGNED BY AN 
OFFICER OF THE BUBBLE REAL ESTATE COMPANY, LLC.

 
LEASE AGREEMENT

 
THIS LEASE ("Lease") is made on March 29, 2012 between The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC. a California limited liability company, (hereinafter referred to as
"Lessor") and Capricor, Inc., a Delaware Incorporation located at 8700 Beverly Blvd, Davis Building Rm. # 1099 Los Angeles, CA 90048 (hereinafter referred to as "Lessee").
 
1. LEASED PREMISES.
 
Lessor agrees to lease to Lessee and Lessee agrees to lease from Lessor the office suite consisting of approximately 2,245 rentable square feet located at 8840 Wilshire
Boulevard, Beverly Hills, California 90211 as described below and on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Premises") along with such furniture and furnishings
located within the Premises which are more particularly identified on Exhibit B, attached hereto (the "Furnishings"). In addition to the exclusive use of the Premises and the
Furnishings, Lessee shall have the non-exclusive right in common with Lessor's other lessees to use all common areas and facilities available on the third floor of Lessor's
property. Except as otherwise agreed to in writing, Lessee takes the Premises and the Furnishings in an "as is" condition.
 

Office #332 and admin bay
Office #333 and admin bay
Office #334 and admin bay
Office #335

 
2. TERM.
 

2.1            Term: Except as it may be modified by the applicable provisions of this Lease, the term of this Lease shall commence on April 13, 2012 (the
"Commencement Date") and shall continue for twelve months.
 

2.2            Option to Extend Lease Term: Lessee is hereby granted and shall, if not then in default under this Lease, have an option to extend the term of this Lease for
an additional twelve (12) months (the "Extended Term") on the same terms, covenants, and conditions contained in this Lease, except that the rent to be paid by Lessee to
Lessor shall be as identified in paragraph 3.2.

 

 



 

 
(a) This option shall be exercised only by Lessee delivering to Lessor no less than ninety (90) days before expiration of the Term of this Lease written

notice of Lessee's election to exercise the option to extend the Term of this Lease as provided in this section. This written notice shall be deemed
effective on personal delivery to Lessor.

 
3. RENT.
 

3.1 During Term: Commencing on the Commencement Date, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor as rent for the Premises and the Furnishings (as identified in paragraph 1
of the Lease and on the attached Exhibit A and Exhibit B, the sum of $8,980 per month payable at the beginning of each month ("Monthly Rent"). Lessee's first
payment shall include one month's full rent plus the security deposit. Should the Commencement Date occur on a day other than the first day of a calendar
month, Lessee shall be liable for the payment of the Monthly Rent and any additional charges due for said partial month on a prorated basis based upon a thirty
(30) day month.

 
3.2 During Extended Term: If Lessee exercises the option to extend the term of this Lease, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor as Monthly Rent for the Premises, the sum

of $9,340 commencing at the commencement of the extended Term.
 
In addition, Lessee shall pay a monthly sum for parking (Reserved, Random Parking or Tandem) at Lessor's then current rates (which may change during the Term). Lessor's
parking rates as of the Commencement Date of this Lease are $180.00 per Reserved Parking Space (located on level one (PI) or, $160.00 per Random Parking Space located on
level two (P2) or three (P3) of Lessor's parking structure) or $90.00 per space for each Tandem space payable at the beginning of each month and subject to availability.
 
The terms and conditions of this Lease are confidential, and Lessee agrees, unless it has received the consent of Lessor, not to reveal said terms and conditions to any third
parties other than Lessee's officers, directors, employees, consultants and professional advisors on a need to know basis. Lessee's disclosure of the terms and conditions of the
Lease shall constitute a "material default" for cause at Lessor's sole discretion and grounds for Lessor to immediately terminate this Lease. Such termination shall be Lessor's
sole remedy for such default.
 
Any and all sums Lessee is obligated to pay under the terms of this Lease shall be construed as rent obligations in addition to the Monthly Rent set forth herein. Such additional
rent shall include a service charge of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for each of Lessee's dishonored checks returned by the institution on which said checks are drawn. If at any
time during the term of this Lease, Lessee has tendered payment by check, and Lessee's bank returns more than one such payment for any reason including insufficient funds,
Lessor may, at its option, require all future payments be made by cashier's check.
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A two hundred dollar ($200.00) handling charge for each Three Day Notice or Notice of Termination of Services which Lessor is required to serve upon Lessee due to Lessee's
failure to make timely rent-payments or breach of any other term or condition of this Lease shall be assessed against Lessee to be paid with the Monthly Rent in the event more
than one of either notice is served during the term of the Lease. Should Lessee not tender payment of the Monthly Rent by the fifth (5th) day of each month, a late charge shall
be assessed in an amount of five percent (5%) of the sum so overdue for the purpose of defraying the expense incident to handling such delinquent payment. Unpaid Monthly
Rent will be considered delinquent on the 51 day of each month. In addition, Lessor may discontinue any and all services provided Lessee, including, but not limited to, use of
all common areas. Lessee hereby releases Lessor, its employees, agents, principals and contractors from any liability for damages which Lessee may suffer as a result of
Lessor's suspension of services for the reasons stated herein.
 

A. Operating Expenses:
 

The Monthly Rent specified in Section 3 of this Lease for each calendar year subsequent to the calendar year in which this Lease is made shall be increased by
Lessee's proportionate share ("Lessee's Share") of any increase in Operating Expenses incurred by Lessor for that year over the Operating Expenses incurred by
Lessor for the calendar year in which this Lease is made. For the purposes of this paragraph:

 
(i)          The term "Operating Expenses" shall mean all expenses incurred by Lessor each calendar year for the administration, operation, and

maintenance of the Building, including, but not limited to:
 

(1)   Personal property taxes and real property taxes and assessments (including general and special assessments) levied on the Building,
except for a reassessment due to a transfer of the Building;

 
(2)  The costs of all utilities required, by leases or otherwise, to be furnished by Lessor to the Building;

 
(3)  Insurance premiums on insurance policies insuring the Building;
 
(4)  The costs of janitorial services for the Building;

 
(5)  Labor and costs incurred in managing the Building and maintaining its elevators, hallways, exterior walls, roof, and other parts,

facilities, and appurtenances; and
 

(6)  Capital improvements to the Building required by governmental authority.
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The term "Operating Expenses" shall exclude Lessor's cost of leasing and advertising costs for the Building and penalties of any type whatsoever assessed
against Lessor.

 
(ii)  Lessee's Share of any increase in Operating Expenses incurred by Lessor for any calendar year shall be determined by dividing the amount of

floor space in the Leased Space by the total amount of rentable floor space in the Building and multiplying the total increase in Operating Expenses for the year
by the resulting percentage figure. The total amount of rentable floor space in the Building shall be determined by excluding from the total interior floor space
of the Building the area required for the Building's heating and air conditioning equipment; the area required for storage of maintenance and janitorial supplies;
and the basement of the Building but including the area occupied by Lessor's offices in the Building.

 
(iii) Manner of Payment: Lessor shall deliver to Lessee a statement showing Lessor's reasonable estimate of the Operating Expenses for each

calendar year and the amount of Lessee's Share of any increase of the operating Expenses based on such estimate. Lessee shall pay to Lessor, at the times and in
the manner provided herein for the payment of Monthly Rent, one-twelfth (1112) of Lessee's Share of any increases as shown by Lessor's statement. If Lessor's
statement is furnished after January I of the calendar year, then on or before the first day of the first calendar month following Lessee's receipt of Lessor's
statement, in addition to the monthly installment of Lessee's Share of any increases due on that date, Lessee shall pay the amount of Lessee's Share of any
increases for each calendar month or fraction thereof that has already elapsed in such calendar year.

 
(iv) Final Statement: After the end of each calendar year (including the calendar year in which the Lease terminates), Lessor shall deliver to Lessee

a final statement of the actual Operating Expenses for such calendar year. Within ten (10) days of delivery of each final statement, Lessee shall pay Lessor the
amount due for Lessee's Share of any increases in the Operating Expenses. Lessee shall have thirty (30) days after delivery of Lessor's final statement to object
in writing to the accuracy of the statement. If Lessee does not object within such thirty (30) day period, Lessor's final statement shall be conclusive and binding
on Lessee. Any credit due Lessee for overpayment of Lessee's Share of any increases in Operating Expenses shall be credited against the installments of
Monthly Rent next coming due. However, overpayments for the calendar year in which the Lease Term terminates shall be retained by Lessor to increase the
Security Deposit, and shall be refunded, used, applied or retained as set forth in Article 6 below.
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4. HOLDING OVER.
 
Lessee shall not hold over in the Premises after the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease Term without the express prior written consent of Lessor. If Lessee holds over
without Lessor's written consent, Lessee shall indemnify Lessor for, and hold Lessor harmless from and against, any and all Liabilities arising out of or in connection with any
delay by Lessee in surrendering and vacating the Premises, including, without limitation, any claims made by any succeeding tenant based on any delay and any Liabilities
arising out of or in connection with these claims. If possession of the Premises is not surrendered to Lessor on the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease Term, in
addition to any other rights and remedies of Lessor hereunder or at law or in equity, Lessee shall pay to Lessor for each month or portion thereof during which Lessee holds over
in the Premises a sum equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the then-current Monthly Rent in addition to all other rent payable under this Lease. If any tenancy is created
by Lessee's holding over in the Premises, the tenancy shall be on all of the terms and conditions of this Lease, except that the Monthly Rent shall be increased as set forth herein
and the tenancy shall be a month-to-month tenancy. Nothing in this Article 4 shall be deemed to permit Lessee to retain possession of the Premises after the expiration or sooner
termination of the Lease Term.
 
5. SECURITY DEPOSIT.
 
Upon execution of this Lease by Lessee, Lessee will pay a security deposit in an amount of $8,980 as security for the performance by Lessee of its obligations under this Lease.
The security deposit will not be interest bearing to Lessee. Lessor will retain the security deposit during Lessee's tenancy. Lessee shall not apply the security deposit as rent. If
Lessee remains in the Premises after the expiration date of this Lease, the security deposit will be retained by Lessor until Lessee moves out of the Premises. Lessor may claim
and retain such amount of Lessee's security deposit as is reasonably necessary to remedy any defaults of the Lessee in the payment of rent or services, to repair damages to the
Premises caused by the Lessee (normal wear and tear excepted), replacement of keys and any other outstanding obligations to Lessor, and Lessor may, at its option and at any
time during the term of this Lease, treat the security deposit as a partial payment applied toward Lessee's obligations for the Premises during Lessee's last month of occupancy of
the same. The parties expressly agree that the security deposit is made for all of the aforesaid specific purposes. Lessor will return the security deposit thirty (30) after the end of
the Lease.
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6. TELEPHONES, FACSIMILE, REPROGRAPHIC AND INTERNET

SERVICES
 
Lessor will provide Lessee with telephones. Each phone line will be charged a per month flat service fee based on the then current fee charged in Lessor's Building. The current
per month service fee is $15 per month. In addition, actual telephone line usage will be billed monthly and payment made within five (5) working days of receipt of the current
statement. Telephones will be maintained at the cost of the Lessor. Lessor will provide Lessee with access to repro graphic equipment. Reprographic and scanning usage will be
charged at Lessor's then current rates (which may change from time to time) which at the present time are $0.07 per black and white copy and $0.30 per color page for
reprographics and $.25 per page (for the first 50 scanned pages scaling down to $.12 per page depending on the total scanned pages). Reprographics and scanning will be billed
monthly and payment made within five (5) working days of receipt of the current statement. Reprographic equipment will be maintained at the cost of the Lessor. Lessor will
provide Lessee with access to Lessor's fiber based internet connection to be charged at a monthly rate of $30 per IP address.
 
7. USE.
 
Lessee shall use the Premises solely for general business use. Lessee shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Building or the Premises which will in any way
obstruct or interfere with the right of other Lessees or occupants of the Building, or injure or annoy them, or use or allow the Premises to be used for any improper, immoral,
unlawful or objectionable purpose, nor shall Lessee cause, maintain or permit any nuisance in, on or about the Premises. Lessee agrees that Lessee will not offer or use
Premises to provide others, services provided by Lessor to Lessor's other lessees (i.e. Telephones, Fax Machines, Copiers, etc.).
 
8. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES/TERMINATION.

 
8.1          Any of the following occurrences shall constitute a "material" default by Lessee:
 

(i)   if Lessee fails to make any payment of rent, additional security deposit or any other payment required to be made by Lessee hereunder, as and when due;
(ii) if Lessee withholds rent, deducts or offsets from rent or services due hereunder any amount for any reason, except as permitted by law; (iii) if Lessee
occupies, uses or stores any personal property in any unrented office in the Building or stores any personal property in any common area; or (iv) if Lessee fails
to observe or perform any of the provisions of this Lease where such failure shall continue for a period of ten (10) days after receipt of written notice thereof
from Lessor to Lessee.

 
8.2          If Lessee materially defaults under this Lease, (i) Lessor may terminate this Lease, (ii) Lessor may recover, in addition to any rent and other charges already

due and payable, all rent for the entire unexpired balance of the Lease Term (paragraphs 3 and 6) and/or Lessor may recover damages from Lessee, in each case, in accordance
with applicable law. All rights and remedies of Lessor under this Lease shall be cumulative and in addition to any other rights or remedies available at law or in equity. No
failure by Lessor to exercise any right or remedy or to insist on performance following a default by Lessee shall constitute a waiver of such default by Lessor.
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8.3            Provided Lessee provides Lessor written notice of no less than thirty (30) days, any termination notice shall be effective the last day of the month. If Lessee

occupies any portion of the terminated space beyond the last calendar day of the month, Lessee will be liable for rent for the full calendar month. If Lessee fails to vacate the
premises for any reason after the termination date or purports to rescind the termination notice after Lessor has already leased Lessee's terminated space, Lessee will pay the rent
the new lessee had agreed to pay, plus any and all resulting damages and losses incurred by Lessor because the new lessee cannot move into the space previously terminated by
Lessee.
 
9. HIRING LESSOR'S EMPLOYEES.
 
Lessee agrees not to offer or accept for hire any of Lessor's employees at any time during the term or any extension or renewal of this Lease. "Lessor's employees" include its
employees and employees from affiliated entities during the period of their employment with Lessor and for a period of ninety (90) days thereafter.
 
10. INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION.
 

10.1            Lessor's Insurance. Lessor has blanket liability insurance coverage for the common areas in the Building and Lessor shall, at all times, keep and maintain
in full force and effect all risk policy(s) of insurance, including coverage for fire and sprinkler damage. Lessor's insurance does not cover Lessee's property in the Building or the
Premises. Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee, or to any other person, for any damages on account of loss, damage, fire or theft of any personal or business property, including,
but not limited to, property left with the floor receptionist or telephone operators, door lettering or other property purchased by, or belonging to, Lessee.
 

10.2            Lessee's Insurance. Lessee shall at all times and at Lessee's expense carry liability and personal property insurance with respect to Lessee's tenancy in an
amount not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence and naming Lessor as an additional insured thereunder, except that Lessor shall not have any claim to
any insurance proceeds paid with respect to Lessee's personal property.
 

10.3            Waiver of Subrogation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Lease, neither Lessor nor Lessee (nor the agents or
employees of either such party) shall be liable to the other party or to any insurance company insuring the other party or to the agents or employees of the other party by way of
subrogated rights or otherwise, for any loss or damage caused by fire or any other hazard or peril covered by fire and extended coverage or all-risk or special form insurance, to
the extent such loss or damage is covered by insurance (or where insurance was required by this Lease) to any building structure or other tangible property, or any resulting loss
of income, even though such loss or damage may have been occasioned by the negligence of such party, its agents or employees. For purposes of the foregoing waiver, any
deductibles, self-insurance or co-insurance maintained by Lessee will be treated as "covered by insurance" to the same extent as though such amounts were paid to Lessee by a
third-party insurer.
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10.4            Indemnification. Lessee shall indemnify and hold harmless Lessor from and against any and all claims arising from Lessee's use of the Premises, or from

the conduct of Lessee's business or from any activity, work or things done, permitted or suffered by Lessee in the Premises and shall further indemnify and hold harmless Lessor
from and against any and all claims arising from any breach or default in the performance under the terms of this Lease, or arising from any negligence of the Lessee or Lessee's
agents, contractors, visitors, or employees, and from and against all costs, attorney's fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in the defense of any such claim or any action or
proceeding brought thereon, and in case any action or proceeding be brought against Lessor by reason of any such claim, unless caused by Lessor's agents. Lessee upon notice
from Lessor shall defend the same at Lessee's expense by counsel satisfactory to Lessor. Lessee, as a material part of the consideration to Lessor, hereby assumes all risk of
damage to property or injury to persons in the Premises and Lessee hereby waives all claims in respect thereof against Lessor.
 

10.5            Procedure. As a condition of the indemnification provided for in this Lease, any' person seeking indemnification ("Indemnitee") from Lessee will promptly
notify Lessee in writing of any claim giving rise to indemnification hereunder. Lessor shall have the right to select defense counsel, but such selection shall be subject to the
reasonable approval of Lessee. Lessee shall have the right to participate in the defense with or without separate co-counsel, at its sole cost and expense. The Indemnitee will not
consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the claim without the prior written consent of Lessee, which consent will not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Section 10.5, if an Indemnitee withholds its consent to a bona fide settlement offer that includes a
release of all claims against the Indemnitee, where but for such action counsel could have settled such claim, Lessee will be required to indemnify the Indemnitee only up to the
maximum amount of the bona fide settlement offer for which Lessee could have settled such claim.
 
11. COMMON AREAS.
 
All areas not designated for exclusive use of Lessees or available for lease to prospective Lessees constitute the Building's common areas. Lessee shall have the non-exclusive
right of access and use of the common areas and facilities contained therein. Conference room(s) may be used on a reservation basis only subject to Lessor's rules and
regulations governing use of the same.
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12. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION.
 

12.1            Partial Damage. If the Premises shall be partially damaged by fire or other casualty but are not thereby rendered unsuitable for the Lessee's purposes
contemplated herein, Lessor shall cause the Premises to be repaired, and the Monthly Rent and Additional Charges shall be abated proportionately as to the portion of the
Premises rendered unsuitable for the purposes contemplated herein from the date of such occurrence until the date on which Lessor's restoration work has been substantially
completed.
 

12.2            Total Destruction. If the Premises are totally destroyed or damaged during the term of this Lease, Lessor or Lessee may, at their option, cancel and
terminate this Lease as of the date of the cause of such damage by giving thirty (30) days written notice to the other party of the election to do so.
 
13. SUBLETTING.
 
Lessee shall not sublet or assign the Premises or any part thereof for any period of time without the prior written consent of Lessor, except that Lessee may, without further
consent, sublet to, or otherwise allow a portion of the Premises to be used by, Dr. Frank Litvack for his personal business activities. Any subletting or assignment of this Lease
which is not in compliance with the provisions of this paragraph shall be void and shall, at the option of Lessor, terminate this Lease. In such event, Lessee shall be liable for
any expenses Lessor may incur in regaining possession of the Premises or so much of the Premises as Lessee may have subleased or assigned without Lessor's consent. The
consent by Lessor to a subletting or assignment shall be not construed as releasing Lessee from any liability or obligation hereunder.
 
14. NOTICES.
 
Any notice to be given under this Lease from one party to the other, including, without limitation, any notice regarding an extension or breach of this Lease or termination
hereof shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, by nationally recognized courier, by fax or electronic transmission or by personal delivery to
The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC, attention: Property Manager, 8840 Wilshire Blvd. Beverly Hills, CA 90211 (in the case of Lessor), or to Lessee c/o the address of the
Premises with a copy to Karen G. Krasney, Esq., 135 S. Thurston Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90049 (in the case of Lessee). If such notice be served by registered or certified
mail, by fax or electronic transmission, or by courier service or personal delivery, service shall be conclusively deemed given the first business day delivery is attempted or upon
receipt, whichever is sooner. Personal delivery to the security staff, receptionist or telephone operator does not constitute notice to either Lessor or Lessee. Either party may
provide for a different address by notifying the other party of said change as provided for herein.
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15. RULES AND REGULATIONS.
 
Lessee shall observe at all times Lessor's Lessee Guide (aka Tenant Guide), a copy of which shall be provided to Lessee upon move-in.
 
16. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.
 
The covenants and conditions herein contained shall apply to and bind the heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns of the parties hereto, except as expressly
provided to the contrary elsewhere herein. In the event of Lessee's death or disability, Lessee's legal representative may terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days' written notice
to Lessor (without penalty) and the security deposit will be refunded in full, subject to the provisions of this Lease.
 
17. REPAIRS.
 
The Lessor shall maintain the structural integrity of the Building shell and make all necessary repairs to the roof, exterior walls, exterior doors, windows, corridors and common
areas in clean and neat condition, and use reasonable efforts to keep all equipment used in common with other Lessees, such as elevator, plumbing, heating, air conditioning and
similar equipment, in good condition and repair. Lessor is not liable to Lessee by reason of any defect, inadequacy or insufficiency in same, except where law permits. Lessee
may not deduct or offset any amount from rent due herein because of any problem regarding construction, repairs or lack thereof, except where law permits. Lessee is
responsible for, and shall indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from and against, any damage to persons or property caused by Lessee, or Lessee's employees, agents, clients,
guests or invitees. Lessee is not responsible for repairing wall holes from normal-sized nails used to hang pictures.
 
18. RIGHT OF ENTRY.
 
If Lessee has given notice to terminate or Lessee is in default of rental payments, Lessor's employees may show the Premises to prospective Lessees between 9:00a.m. and
6:00p.m., Monday through Friday. If during the last month of the Term, Lessee shall have removed all or substantially all of Lessee's property, Lessor may immediately allow
anyone else to occupy the premises without relieving Lessee of liability for rent for that period of time unless Lessor receives rental income from Lessee's space, in which event
such payment shall be credited against Lessee's rent obligation for the period of time the space is occupied by someone else.
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19. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS:
 
Before commencement of the Lease term provided for in this Lease, Lessor shall make the following improvements to the Premises: New carpet and painting of all walls. If
Lessor fails to complete such improvements under this paragraph before commencement of the Lease Term, Lessee's obligation to pay rent shall not commence until such work
is completed, but Lessee shall have no right to cancel or otherwise terminate this Lease, so long as such improvements are completed within a reasonable period of time.
 
20. UTILITIES, SERVICES, MAINTENANCE AND CONSTRUCTION.
 
Lessor provides utilities, services (janitorial, heat and air conditioning) and maintenance. Janitorial services include carpet vacuuming, but not cleaning. Janitorial, heat and air
conditioning is provided during generally recognized business days and hours. Lessee is allowed access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week,
subject to the Buildings' rules requiring proper identification after normal business hours. Lessor is not liable to Lessee by reason of any failure to provide or the inadequacy of
utilities, janitorial. heating or air conditioning services or maintenance providing Lessor is using good faith reasonable efforts to mitigate such failure or inadequacy or such
failure or inadequacy is as a result of an event of force majeure. Lessee may not deduct or offset any amount from rent due herein because of any problem regarding utilities,
heat, air conditioning, janitorial services, maintenance services or defective construction of Premises, except where permitted by law.
 
Lessor is responsible for maintaining the common areas within the Building; however, Lessor is not responsible for maintaining, repairing or cleaning the floor covering, wall
covering or drapes/window blinds within the Premises, other than the normal janitorial service provided. Any non-recurring operating and capital improvements requested by
Lessee may be passed on to the Lessee.
 
21. ATTORNEY'S FEES.
 
In the event legal proceedings to regain possession of the Premises or to collect moneys owed are instituted because of Lessee's failure to pay rent, security deposit, cost or
repair of the Premises or to cure any breach of the Lease by Lessee, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover as an element of his cost of suit, and not as damages,
reasonable attorney's fees to be fixed by the court. The "prevailing party" shall be the party who is entitled to recover his costs of suit, whether or not the suit proceeds to final
judgment. The party not entitled to recover his costs shall not recover attorney's fees. No sum for attorney's fees shall be counted in calculating the amount of a judgment for
purposes of determining whether a party is entitled to recover his cost of attorney's fees.
 
22. DISPUTE MEDIATION:
 
Lessor and Lessee agree to mediate any dispute or claim arising between them out of this Lease, before resorting to arbitration or court action. Mediation fees, if any, shall be
divided equally among the parties. If either party commences an action without first attempting to resolve the matter through mediation, or refuses to mediate after a request .
has been made, that party shall not be able to recover attorney fees, even if such fees would otherwise be available to that party in any such action. THIS MEDIATION
PROVISION APPLIES WHETHER OR NOT THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IS INITIALED.
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23. ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES:
 

23.1           Lessor and Lessee agree that any dispute or claim in law or equity arising between them in connection with this Lease, which is not settled through
mediation, shall be decided by a neutral, binding arbitration. The arbitrator shall be a retired judge or justice, or an attorney with at least 5 years of commercial real estate
experience associated with and in accordance with the rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"), unless the parties mutually agree to a different
arbitrator, who shall render an award in accordance with substantive California Law. Judgment upon the award of the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.
The parties shall be permitted to engage in discovery as allowed by the rules and procedures of the AAA.
 

23.2           EXCLUSIONS FROM MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION: The following matters are excluded from mediation and arbitration hereunder: (a) an
unlawful detainer action; (b) an action for bodily injury or wrongful death; (c) a dispute or claim involving an amount of damages equal or less than the applicable maximum
amount permitted in small claims court.
 
NOTICE: BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN
THE "ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES" PROVISION DECIDED BY NEUTRAL ARBITRATION AS PROVIDED BY CALIFORNIA LAW AND YOU ARE
GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS YOU MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE THE DISPUTE LITIGATED IN A COURT OR BY JURY TRIAL. BY INITIALING IN THE
SPACE BELOW YOU ARE GIVING UP YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL, UNLESS THOSE RIGHTS ARE SPECIFICALLY
INCLUDED IN THE "ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES" PROVISION. IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS
PROVISION, YOU MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE. YOUR
AGREEMENT TO THIS ARBITRATION PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY.

 
WE HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO SUBMIT DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE
"ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES" PROVISION NEUTRAL ARBITRATION.
 
____/s/___INITIALED BY LESSOR:                                  __/s/__ INITIALED BY LESSEE:
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24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT, MERGER AND WAIVER.
 
This Lease Agreement supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, offers, brochures, agreements or understandings, if any, between the parties
hereto. This Lease expresses and contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto and there are no expressed or implied representations, warranties or agreement between
them, except as herein contained. This Lease may not be modified, amended or supplemented except in writing signed by both Lessor and Lessee. Consent given or waiver
made by Lessor of any breach by Lessee of any provision of this Lease Agreement shall not operate or be construed in any manner as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the
same or of any other provision.
 
26. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES.
 
Nothing herein shall be construed to create a partnership, joint venture. franchise or agency relationship between the parties or their affiliates. Lessee further acknowledges that
no representations, inducements, promises. or agreements, orally Of otherwise, have been (or will be) made by Lessee to any third party, affiliate, partner, employee, joint
venturer, sub-Lessee, independent contractor or party in any business relationship with Lessee or any of its affiliates which in any way could be construed as indicating such
proscribed relationship as is embodied herein. Neither Party has authority to enter into any agreements on behalf of the other without the express prior written consent of the
party to be charged.

 
LESSOR  LESSEE
   
The Bubble  Real Estate  Company,  LLC  Capricor,  Inc.
   
    
By:  /s/  Bill Sheinberg  By: /s/ Linda Marban

 
Bill  Sheinberg Member  Linda Marban, CEO
Print Name and Title  Print Name and Title
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EXHIBIT A

 
FLOOR PLAN
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EXHIBIT B

 
OFFICE FURNITURE INVENTORY FOR OFFICES 332-335 AND ADMIN BAYS

 

Office  Desk  Desk Chair  Side Chair  Book Case  Love Seat  
Coffee 
Table

332  1w/ return & credenza  1  2  1  1  1
333  1 desk w/back counter & files  1  3  0  0  0
334  1w/ return & credenza  1  2  1 w/tv console  1  1
335  1w/ return & credenza

 
1 pine desk

 2  2  1  0  0

3-Admin Bays  Built into bays  3         
TOTAL  5  8  9  3  2  2

3/26/2012
 

 15  



 

  
GUARANTY

 
This Guaranty of Lease (the "Guaranty") is attached to and made part of that certain Office Lease (the "Lease") dated March 29, 2012, between The Bubble Real Estate
Company, LLC, a California limited liability company, (hereinafter referred to as "Lessor") and Capricor, Inc. (hereinafter together referred to as "Lessee"), covering a portion,
known as the Premises of the Building located at 8840 Wilshire Boulevard, Beverly Hills, California. The terms used in this Guaranty shall have the same definitions as set
forth in the Lease. In order to induce Lessor to enter into the Lease with Lessee, Linda Marban ( the" Guarantor") has agreed to execute and deliver this Guaranty to Lessor.
Guarantor acknowledges that Lessor would not enter into the Lease if Guarantor did not execute and deliver this Guaranty to Lessor.
 
1 .          Guaranty. In consideration of the execution of the Lease by Lessor and as a material inducement to Lessor to execute the Lease, Guarantor hereby irrevocably,
unconditionally. jointly and severally guarantees the full, timely and complete (a) payment of all rent and other sums payable by Lessee to Lessor under the Lease, and any
amendments or modifications thereto by agreement, and (b) performance of all covenants, representations and warranties made by Lessee and all obligations to be performed by
Lessee pursuant to the Lease, and any amendments or modifications thereto by agreement .. The payment of those amounts and performance of those obligations shall be
conducted in accordance with all terms, covenants and conditions set forth in the Lease, without deduction, offset or excuse of any nature and without regard to the
enforceability or validity of the Lease, or any part thereof, or any disability of Lessee.
 
2 .            Lessee's Default. This Guaranty is a guaranty of payment and performance, and not of collection. Upon any breach or default by Lessee under the Lease, Lessor may
proceed immediately against Lessee and/or Guarantor to enforce any of Lessor's rights or remedies against Lessee or Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty, the Lease, or at law or
in equity without notice to or demand upon either Lessee or Guarantor. This Guaranty shall not be released, modified or affected by any failure or delay by Lessor to enforce
any of its rights or remedies under the Lease or this Guaranty, or at law or in equity.
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3 .              Separate and Distinct Obligations. Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that Guarantor's obligations to Lessor under this Guaranty are separate and distinct from
Lessee's obligations to Lessor under the Lease. The occurrence of any of the following events shall not have any effect whatsoever on Guarantor's obligations to Lessor
hereunder, each of which obligations shall continue in full force or effect as though such event had not occurred: (a) the commencement by Lessee of a voluntary case under the
federal bankruptcy laws, as now constituted or hereafter amended or replaced, or any other applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law (collectively,
the "Bankruptcy Laws"), (b) the consent by Lessee to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar
official of Lessee or for any substantial part of its property, (c) any assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors, (d) the failure of Lessee generally to pay its debts as such
debts become due, (e) the taking of corporate action by Lessee in the furtherance of any of the foregoing, or (f) the entry of a decree or order for relief by a court having
jurisdiction in respect of Lessee in any involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Laws, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar
official) of Lessee or for any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of any of its affairs and the continuance of any such decree or order
unstayed and in effect for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days. The liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty is not and shall not be affected or impaired by any payment
made to Lessor under or related to the Lease for which Lessor is required to reimburse Lessee pursuant to any court order 01' in settlement of any dispute, controversy or
litigation in any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other federal or state debtor relief proceeding. If, during any such proceeding, the Lease is assumed by
Lessee or any trustee, or thereafter assigned by Lessee or any trustee to a third party, this Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect with respect to the full performance of
Lessee, any such trustee or any such third party's obligations under the Lease. If the Lease is terminated or rejected during any such proceeding, or if any of the events described
in Subparagraphs (a) through (f) of this Paragraph 5 occur, as between Lessor and Guarantor, Lessor shall have the right to accelerate all of Lessee's obligations under the Lease
and Guarantor's obligations under this Guaranty. In such event, all such obligations shall become immediately due and payable by Guarantor to Lessor, subject to the terms of
this Guaranty. Guarantor waives any defense arising by reason of any disability or other defense of Lessee or by reason of the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the
liability of Lessee.
 
4 .            Subordination. All existing and future advances by Guarantor to Lessee, and all existing and future debts of Lessee to Guarantor, shall be subordinated to all
obligations owed to Lessor under the Lease and this Guaranty.
 
5.         Successors and Assigns. This Guaranty binds Guarantor's personal representatives, successors and assigns.
 
6 .          Lessor's Reliance. Lessor shall not be required to inquire into the powers of Lessee or the officers, employees, partners or agents acting or purporting to act on its
behalf, and any indebtedness made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers shall be guaranteed under this Guaranty.
 
7 .          Acknowledgement of Lease. Guarantor hereby represents and warrants to Lessor that Guarantor has received a copy of the Lease, has read or had the opportunity to
read the Lease, and understands the terms of the Lease.
 
8 .          Attorneys' Fees. In any action or proceeding involving or relating in any way to this Guaranty, the court or other person or entity having jurisdiction in such action or
proceeding shall award to the prevailing party its actual attorneys' fees and costs incurred.
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9.              Choice of Laws. This Guaranty shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with. the laws of the State of California.

 
"Guarantorr"  
  
Linda Marban  
  

/s/ Linda Marban  
 

Executed at 10:11 am on this 1st day of April, 2012
 

815 N. Roxbury Dr. Beverly Hills, CA 90210
Personal Address
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Exhibit 10.3

 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

 
This First Amendment to Lease (this “Amendment”) is dated as of June 13, 2013, and is made by and between The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC, a California

limited liability company (“Lessor”) and Capricor, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Lessee”), with reference to the following facts and circumstances:
 

A.             Lessor and Lessee executed that certain Lease Agreement dated March 29, 2012 (the “Lease”), for the premises located at 8840 Wilshire Boulevard, 3rd
Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211 (the “Original Premises”) as described on Exhibit A thereto.

 
B.             Lessor and Lessee have agreed to extend the term of the Lease, redefine the Leased Premises, and make additional modifications as provided in this

Amendment.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Lessor and Lessee agree as follows:
 

1.            LEASED PREMISES. Article 1 of the Lease is hereby replaced with the following:
 
a. Lessor agrees to lease to Lessee and Lessee agrees to lease from Lessor the office suite consisting of approximately 4,432 rentable square feet located at

8840 Wilshire Boulevard, 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211 as described below and on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit C. All references
in the Lease and this Amendment to the “Premises” shall refer to the Premises described on said Exhibit C. Included in the Lease shall be such furniture
and furnishings located within the Premises which are more particularly identified on Exhibit D, attached hereto (the “Furnishings”). All references in the
Lease and this Amendment to the “Furnishings” shall refer to the Furnishings described on said Exhibit D. In addition to the exclusive use of the Premises
and the Furnishings, Lessee shall have the non-exclusive right in common with Lessor’s other lessees to use all common areas and facilities available on
the second floor of the building in which the Premises are located, all common areas servicing the building and the conference room located on the 3rd

Floor of the building. Except as otherwise set forth herein or agreed to in writing, Lessee takes the Premises and the Furnishings in an “as is” condition.
 

i. Office #254
ii. Office #255
iii. Office #256
iv. Office #257
v. Office #258
vi. Office #259
vii. Office #260
viii. Office #261
ix. Office #263
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x. Office #264
xi. Office #265
xii. Office #266
xiii. Office #267
xiv. Office #269

 
2. TERM: Article 2 of the Lease is hereby replaced with the

following:
 
a.     2.1         Term: Except as it may be modified by the applicable provisions of this Lease, the term of this Lease shall commence on July 1, 2013 (the

“Commencement Date”) and shall continue for twenty-four (24) months.
 

b.     2.2         Option to Extend Lease Term:
 

(a)         Lessee is hereby granted and shall, if not then in default under this Lease, have an option to extend the term of this Lease for an
additional twelve (12) months (the “Extended Term”) on the same terms, covenants, and conditions contained in this Lease, except that the rent to be paid
by Lessee to Lessor shall be as identified in paragraph 3.2.
 

(b)         This option shall be exercised only by Lessee delivering to Lessor no less than ninety (90) days before the expiration of the Term of this
Lease written notice of Lessee’s election to exercise the option to extend the Term of this Lease as provided in this section. This written notice shall be
deemed effective on personal delivery to Lessor.

 
3. Rent. Article 3.1 and Article 3.2 of the Lease is hereby replaced with the

following:
 
a.     3.1           During Term: Commencing on the Commencement Date, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor as rent for the Premises and the Furnishings (as identified

in paragraph 1 of the Lease and on the attached Exhibit C and Exhibit D, respectively, the sum of $16,620 per month, for months 1-12 of the Term and
$17,285 for months 13-24 payable at the beginning of each month (“Monthly Rent”). Lessee’s first payment shall include one month’s full rent plus
$7,640, which amount shall increase Lessee’s existing security deposit so as to equal $16,620. Should the Commencement Date occur on a day other than
the first day of a calendar month, Lessee shall be liable for the payment of the Monthly Rent and any additional charges due for said partial month on a
prorated basis based upon a thirty (30) day month.
 

b.     3.2          During Extended Term: If Lessee exercises the option to extend the term of this Lease, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor as Monthly Rent for the
Premises, the sum of $17,976 commencing at the commencement of the extended Term

 
4. Parking: Lessee shall be entitled to a single reserved parking space at no additional

charge.
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5. Improvements: Lessor shall provide the following improvements prior to the Commencement

Date:
 
· replace all carpet within the Leased Premises and the common areas within the Premises;
· paint the Premises and all areas in the suite in which the Premises are located, as necessary;
· construct a half-wall separating offices 269 and 267 from offices 268 and 270;
· replace the window treatments in office 254 with window treatments reasonably acceptable to tenant;
· repair the wood on the desks and tops surrounding the desk areas (or install new desktops) as may be agreed to by the parties.

 
6. Reaffirmation. As modified hereby, the Lease is reaffirmed and ratified by the parties in its

entirety.
 

LESSOR  LESSEE
   
The Bubble Real Estate Company, LLC,  Capricor, Inc.,
a California limited liability company  a Delaware corporation
   
By  /s/ Bill Sheinberg  By /s/ Linda Marban
   
Name: __Bill Sheinberg  Name: __Linda Marban
   
Title:__Member  Title:___CEO
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Exhibit 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 
I, Linda Marbán, Ph.D., certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;
 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 13, 2015
 
/s/ Linda Marbán, Ph.D.  
Name: Linda Marbán, Ph.D.  
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive Officer  
  

 
 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

 
I, Anthony Bergmann, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;
 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 13, 2015
 
/s/ Anthony Bergmann  
Name: Anthony Bergmann  
Title: Principal Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance  
  

 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Linda Marbán, Ph.D., the Principal Executive Officer of Capricor

Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to her knowledge, that:
 
(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)

or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for the period covered

by the Report.
 
Date: August 13, 2015
 
/s/ Linda Marbán, Ph.D.  
Name: Linda Marbán, Ph.D.  
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive Officer  
 

 
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 32.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Anthony Bergmann, the Principal Financial Officer of Capricor

Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
 
(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)

or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for the period covered

by the Report.
 
Date: August 13, 2015
 
/s/ Anthony Bergmann  
Name: Anthony Bergmann  
Title: Principal Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance  
  

 
 


